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Independent Auditors’ Report
To the Shareholders of
BLC Bank S.A.L
Beirut — Lebanon

Adverse Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of BLC Bank S.A.L. (the "Bank") and its subsidiary
(the *Group™), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2024
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of ca_sh
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material

accounting policy information.

In our opinion, because of the significance of the matters described in the Basis for Adv_erse Opinion gectzon
of our report, the accompanying consolidated financial statements do not present _falrly the consohdate?d
financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2024, and its consolidated financial perfoqnance and_ its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Intemational Financial Reporting

Standards (IFRSs Accounting Standards) (IFRSs).

Basis for Adverse Opiniop

1. As disclosed in note 1.3.2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group's functional currency is
the Lebanese Pound which is the currency of a hyperinflationary economy and the Group was not able_ to
apply the requirements of IAS 29 "Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies” in the preparation
of the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024. IAS 29 requires that the consolidated
financial statements, and corresponding figures for previous periods, of an entity with a functional currency
that is hyperinflationary, to be stated in the terms of the measuring unit current at the end of t.he reporting
period. Had the Group been able to apply the requirements of IAS 29, many elements and disclosures in
the accompanying financial statements, including the comparative financial statements for the year (:ndfed
December 31, 2023, would have been :ignificantly impacted. Yhe effects on the consolidated ‘inancial
statements arising from this departure have not been determined. Our opirion in the prior year was also
modified in respect of this matter.

2. Asdisclosed innote 1.3.1 to the consolidated financial statements, and in light of the ongoing €conomic
and financial crisis in Lebanon, the Group used in 2024 and 2023, in accordance with the instructions of
the Central Bank of Lebanon, the exchange rates published by the Central Bank of Lebanon for the
translation of its transactions and monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies to the

Group’s functional currency (i.e. Lebanese Pound).

Starting January 2024, the exchange rate published by the Central Bank of Lebanon was set at LBP 89,500
to the US Dollar, aligning the rate with the prevailing market rate. The Group used this rate to translate the
transactions and monetary items denominated in foreign currency, including foreign currency accounts
subject to de-facto capital controls, into the functional currency.
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Basis for Adverse Opinion (continued)

Applying this rate to the foreign currency accounts suhject t¢ de-facto canitzl controls, constituted a
departure from [AS 21 “The effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange rates”, as this exchange rate deviates
significantly from the rate by which, the future cash flows from these accounts, could have been settled or
collected had the-e cash flows occurred at the measurement date.

Had the Giroup been able to apply the requirements of [AS 21 many accounts and disclosures in the financial
statements, including comparative financial information, would have been materially different. The effects

on the financial statements from this departure have not been determined.

3. Cash and balances with the Central Bank of Lebanon and investment securities at amortized cost, which
are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position, net of expected credit loss, at LBP 18,758
billion and LBP 27,164 billion respectively (2023: LBP 19,970 billion and LBP 6,303 billion respectively),
inchude gross balances held with the Central Bark of Lebzanon and ebanese government debt securities at
amo;ti.e cost of LBE 159,240 billlon (2023 LBP 29,840 billiuay adnizisually. ioans and advances to
customers, ucposils with banks and financiai institutions and other assets, which are carried in the
consolidated statement of financial position at LBP 5,637 billion, LBP 2,938 billion and LBP 361 billion
respectively (2023: LBP 1,834 billion, LBP 323 billion and LBP 96 billion respectively), include balances
of LBP 5,233 billion, LBP 212 billion and LBP 35 billion respectively (2023: LBP 1,761 billion, LBP 37

billion and LBP 20 billion respectively)} which are concentrated in Lebanon,

The stated allowance for expected credit losses on these balances does not take into account the significant
deterioration in credit quality which has occurred subsequent to initial recognition as a result of the
continuing economic crisis in Lebanon and the government default on Eurobonds, which constitutes a
departure from IFRS 9. We were unable to determine the adjustments necessary to these amounts. Gur
opinion in the prior year was also modified in respect of this matter.

4. Provisions are carried in the consolidated statement of firancial position at LBP 807 billion (2023: LBP
312 billion). The assumptions used in calculating and estimating these provisions are subject to high
uncertainties due to the prevailing financial and economic situation in Lebanon as mentioned in note 1 to
the financial statements, that expose the Group to increased litigation, regulatory risks and contingent
liabilities in respect with tax legislations. Consequently, we were unable to determine whether any
adjustments to the calculation of these estimates were necessary.

Moreover, it includes a provision for expected credit losses on financial guarantees and other commitments
of LBP 4.1 billion (2023: LBP 3.8 billion).

Management has not stated the allowance for expected credit losses on financial guarantees and other
commitments which takes into account the full impact of the economic crisis and political turmoil in
~ebanorn, which constitutes a departure from IFRSs. We were unable to determine the adjustments
necessary to this amount. Our opinion in the prior year was also modified in respect of this matter.

5. Investment securities at fair value through profit or loss and investment securities at fair value through
other comprehensive income which are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at LBP
6,464 billion and LBP 189 billion respectively (2023: LBP 687 billion and LBP 36 billion respectively),
include investment securities which are issued by the private entities domiciled in Lebanon of LBP 4,119
billien and LBP 69 billion respectively (2023: LBP 547 billion and LBP 19 billion respectively).

Management has stated the aforementioned financial assets at fair value by using inputs into the
determination of fair value which are not indicative of economic reality and market conditions existing in
Lebanon at the reporting date, which constitutes a departure from IFRSs. We were unable to determine the
adjustments necessary to these amounts. Qur opinion in the prior year was also modified in respect of this
matter.
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Basis for Adverse Opinion (continued)

6. Management has not disclosed the fair value of the Group's financial asssts and financial ﬁfibih’ties at
amortized cost, which constitutes a departure from IFRSs. We were unable 1o determine the fair value of
the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities at amortized cost which should be disclesed. Qur
opinion in the prior year was also modified in respect of this matter.

7. We did not receive up to this report's date sufficient direct confirmation of balances related to customers’
accounts. In addition, we were unable to verify by altemative means the balances of unconfirmed accounts
included in the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2024, and accordingly, we were unable
to satisfy ourselves as fo the accuracy of the reported balances as at that date. Our opinion in prior years

was also modified in respect of this matter.

8. As disclosed in note 1.3.4 to th= consolidated financial s:atements, the Group iz ¢ “-ndan: 'n several
lawsuits and is also expused - increaved litigations and claiiis. We were unable to 2. sufficient
appropriate audit evidence as to the absence of any additional claims and their potential impact on the
financial statements since we did not receive, up to the date of this report, some of the requested bank

lawyers’ letters. Our opinion in the prior year was also modified in respect of this matter.

9. As disclosed in notes 11 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements and in accordance with Law
No. 330, the Group restated during 2024 the carrying amounts of its property and equipment and assets
acquired in satisfaction of loans. This restatemnent was applied with retrospective effect from 2023 opening
balances, which constitutes a departure from IFRS Accounting Standards. Had the Group not adjusted the
carrying value of those assets, the opening balances as of | January 2023 and certain elements of the
accompanying financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 would have been reduced by the

restated amounts.

10. As disclosed in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and in accordance with Law No. 330,
the Group restated during 2024 the carrying amounts of assets acquired in satisfaction of loans based on a
valuation with retrospective effect from 2023 opening balances. .

These assets, stated at LBP 6,934 biilion as at December 31, 2024 (2023: LBP 6,934 billion) in Fhe
consolidated statement of financial position, are carried at revalued amounts, reflecting a revaJuan-on
surplus of LBP 6,873 billion (2023: LBP 6,873 billion). Up to the date of this report, this revaluation remains
subject to the approval of the regulatory authorities. We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate a}xdlt
evidence to support the fair value of these assets, as we could not verify the key inputs and assumptions
used in the valuation due to the prevailing economic conditions in Lebanon as at the reporting date. In
addition, the absence of regulatory approval further limits our ability to assess the appropriateness of Fhe
revalued amounts. Accordingly, we were unable to determine whether any adjustments to the cairying

armount of these asscts were necessary.

11. The events, conditions and practices that weuld not qualify as normal course of business in a non-crisis
environment described in note 1 and the matters described in the paragraphs above affect the ﬂnancial
position, liquidity, solvency and profitability of the Group, expose the Group to increased litigation _and
regulatory risks. Significant uncertainty exists in relation to the outcome of the litigations and claims ra1§ad
against the Group and the negative impact that they might have on the Group’s offshore liquidity, fgrmgn
assets and foreign currency exposure as disclosed in note 38. These events and conditions cast sigmﬁgant
doubts on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence about the group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion in the prior year was
also modified in respect of this matter.



Basis for Adverse Opinien {(continued)

12. Other liabilities which are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at LBP 2,511
billion as at December 31, 2024 (2023: LBP 168 billion), include accounts payable to insurers for LBP 2.7
billion (2023: LBP 1.2 billion). We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the
balances payabie to insurers as we were unable to confirm these amounts directly with the insurers.
Consequently, we were unable to determine whether any adjustments were necessary to this amount.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Qur responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants' Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (TESBA
Code) together with the Code of Ethics of the Lebanese Association of Certified Public Accountants that
are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements and we have fulfilled our other ethica}l
responsibilitics in accordance with these requirereents and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit
wv'gence we have obtained ix sufficient and approp:iai- o proviie a basis for our adverss opinion.

Emphasis of Matter
We draw attention to note 1.3.1 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements, which descﬁbe; the
exchange rates used by the Group for the transiation of monetary assets, liabilities and transactions

denominated in foreign currencies.

As a result of the change in the exchange rate LBP/USD published by the Central Bank of Lebanon_ from
15,000 to 89,500 effective February 1, 2024, the comparability of accounts and transactions denominated
in. foreign currencies and converted into LBP is not possible.

Our adverse opinion is not further modified in respect of this matter.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024. Except for the matters
described in the Basis for adverse opinion section of our report, we have determined that there are no other

key audit matters to communicate in our report.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information consists of the informgtion
included in the Group's Annual Report other than the consolidated financial statements and our audltor"s
report thereon. The Group's Annual Report is expected to be made available to us after the date of this

auditor's report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the o_ther
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained

in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materialiy misstated.



Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Geovernance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The Board of Directors and those charged with govemnance (refeired to thereafter as “Management”) are
responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or fo cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

Auditor's Koypunsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Sucemests

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guaranteje tha_t an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered materal if, individually or in the z-lggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with [SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, \.:whethejr
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain gudlt
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

* Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit pmcedu.res that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control.

@ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

@ Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting ﬁnd,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we concl}Jde that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related dlsclosgres
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Qur conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern,



Auditor's Responsibiiities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Siatements (continited)

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group io express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We‘are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

= Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial stalements,
including the disciosures, und whether the consolidated financial statements represert the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the I_Jlanpeq scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
. . : FEETIrN T

ethica! requirements regarding independence, and to communicate witn them all refaticnghing and -2ther
. . . . . . - : cal

matters Inzt may reasonably be they | ¢ to hesr on our independence, and where applicable, actiL. laken

to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Beirut, Lebanon
May 22, 2025
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BLC BANK S AL
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Assets

Cash and balances with the Central Bank of Lebanon
Deposits with banks and financial mstitutions

Loans and advances to customers

Investment securities at fair value through profit or loss
Investment securities

Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans

Right-of-use assets

Property and equipment

Intangible assets

Other assets

Total Armaks

Liabjlities

Deposits from banks and finaneial instiutions
Customers’ accounts

Borrowings from Central Bank of Lebancn
Lease liabilities

Gther liabilities

Provisions

Total Liabilities

Fauity

Capital

Shareholders' cash contribution to capital
Preferred shares

Treasury shares

Non-distributable reserves

Accumulated losses

Assets revaluation surplus

Cumulative change in fair value of investment securities
at fair value through other comprehensive income

Loss for the year
Equity attributable to Equity holders of the Bank

Non-controlling interests
Tetal Equiry

Total Liabilities and Equity

Financial instruments with off-balance sheet risks:

Letters of guarantee and standby letters of credit
Forward exchange contracts
Fiduciary accounts

December 31,
2023 January 1, 2023
t 4 c
Notes 20z As adjusted As adiusted

LBP'000 LEP'008 LBP' 000
5 118,757,8%5,381 19,969,514,566 2,998,685,432
6 2,937,962,532 322,367,723 31,648,985
7 5,636,900,130 1,834,011,970 564,687,329
9 6,464,087,309 687,155,754 68,061,104
g 27,352,587,129 6,339,202,195 1,353,056,865
11 6,933,718,664 6,934,086,941 3,250,643,628
12 990,127 2,059,520 5,057,203
13 4,952,113,898 5,042,084,444 2,397,937,750
14 297,562 783,067 1,719,184
15 . 361,381,256 96,041,945 51,050,163
TINNTRIT,0RR 41,227,865, 728 10,723,547 655
16 717,877,551 41,105,956 102,325,165
17 156,568,880,623 28,027,622,155 4,253,465,754
18 396,719,911 269,630,087 182,977,458
12 73,657,934 24,332,630 7,127,008
19 2,510,604,760 168,140,447 65,189,674
20 806,806,221 311,742,578 57,523,567
161,074,547,800 28,842,573,853 4,668,608,626
21 214,000,000 214,060,000 214,600,000
21 141,492,443 141,492,443 141,492,443
22 152,786,633 152,786,633 152,786,633
23 (75,882,381} (75,882,381) (75,882,381)
24 262,369,519 262,369,519 262,973,595
(218,846,542) (139,808,406) {41,783,186)
{1,13 11,916,973,38% 11,916,973,389 5,508,465,097
8 42,738,953 (8,036,316) (10,056,954)
(113,680,698) (79,038,536) (97.498,065)
12,321,950,918 12,384,856,345 6,054,497,142
1,436,070 377,927 4.1 887
12,323,386,988 12,385,234,272 6,054,939,029
173,397,933,988 41,227.808,125 10,723,547,653

34

1,986,522,861 368,507,947 58,782,342
- - 17,477,998
33 272,205,847 45,309,375 4,553,592

The accompanying notes 1 to 43 form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements



BLC BANK S.A.L

Consohdated Statement of Profit or Loss
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BLLC BANK S.ALL
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Year ended December 31,

Notes 2024 2023 }
LEP'O00 LBP'0G0
Loss for the year (112,622,555) (79,042,227)
Other comprehensive income:
{tems that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit
or loss:
Net change in fai i Turiti I
he gi n fair value Oft eqv._uty securities at fair value 20,056,050 2,023,118
theough ofher comprebensive income
Gain on revaluation of propuny end equipment 17 - 2,725,064,979
Gain ti ired 1 i i :
1 on revaluation of assets acquired in satisfaction of 1 i 3,683.443,313
oans
50,056,050 6,410,531,410
ltems that may be reclassified subsequently 1o profit or
loss:
Net change in fair value of debt securities at fair value
2,440
through other comprehensive income (net of tax) 719221 (@40
719,221 (2,440)
Total other comprehensive income for the year 50,775,271 6,410,528,970

Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the year (61,847,284) 6,331,486,743

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Bank
Non-controlling interests

(62,905,427)  6,331,490,434
1,058,143 (3,691)
(61,847,284)  6,331,486,743

The accompanying notes [ to 43 form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements



BLC BANK S.AL
Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity

Balance January 1, 2023

Effect of revaluztion of property
and cquiprent {note 13)

Effect of revaluation of assets
acquired I satisfaction of loans
[note 12)

Adpusted balance January 1, 2023
Appropriation of 2022 loss

Change i non-controlling interests
Ot cr movement

Tota comprehensive income for the
year 2023

Balance December 31, 2023
Appropriation of 2023 loss

Totalec.
year 2021
Balance December 31, 2024

wehensive loss for the

Cumulative
Shareholders MNon change in fair Assets Non
Preferred T ’ ¢ -
Capital e reasury u;ash . distributable value of revaination Accumulated  Lossifor the Totat controlling  Total Equity
shares shares eontribution ) fosses year .
; reserves investment surplus interests
to capital .
Securities
LBPOLO LBP'090 LBP00 LBPOO LBP'0OC LBP'000 LBE'00 LBP'G00 LBPMD LBP'000 LBP'0DO LBP'000
214000000 152786633 (75882381) 141492443 262,573,595 (10,055,994) - (41,783,186)  (9749R:J65) 546,032,045 441,887 546,473,932
- - - - - 2315,356,450 - 2,319.356,450 - 2,319,356,450
- - - - - 3,189,108,647 - 1,189,108, 647 - 3,129,108,647
714,000,000 152,786,633 (75.882,381) 141,492,443 262,573,595 (10056994)  5,508465097 (41,783,186) {97,498065y 6054497142 44] 887 6,054,939,029
- - . (07498065 97,498,065 - - -
- - - - - - - (50,269) {60,269
- - - (604,076) - - (527,155) - (1,131.231) (1,131231)
- 2020678 6,408,508,252 - (79038536)  6,331,490434 (3691)  6,331486,743
24000000 12786633 (5883 141492643 262369510 (8036316) 1916973389 (10808408)  (90°35 4 123MASS6HS  IMNT 12382427
- - - - - - - (79,038,536) 79,038,5:.6 - - -
- 50715271 - (113,650,638 (62,905,427} 1,058,143 (61,847,.284)
214000000 152786633 (75882381 141492443 262,369,519 42738955 11916973389  (218346942) (113,680,698 12321,930,918 1436070 12,323 386,588

The accompanying notes 1 to 43 form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements,

10



BLC BANK 5.A.L

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31,
Notes 2024 2023
LEBFOGC LBP'000

Cash fows frem operating activitics:
Loss for the year (112,622,555) (79,042,227)
Adjustments fHr:
Allowance for expected credi losses (net) 38 4,358,641,453 943,747,528
Depreciation a..d amortization 13,14 91,696,481 84,752,829
Deprecmation of right-of use assels 12 388,744 1,110,405
Provision for risk and charges 20 207,514,750 162,971,524
Provision for end-of-service indermmnities (net) 20 137,251,446 78,560:285
]U:;ealized g2 on investment securities at fir value through profit or 30 (8,898,291,168) (100,564,765)
0
Net foss from derecognised nvestment securities at amortized cost &B 468,341,191 -
Income tax expense 19 2,799,874 151,755
Gam on dispesal of property and equipiment 13 (72,590,849) (5C,722)
Cin on dispesal of assets aronived i natisfaction of loans 11 (37,848,224} -
Dividend mcome ) . 2 (176,457, 152,820}
Difference of exchange 176,259,531 49,915,608
Interest ~xn=nse 27 ARCOZ20 101 102,371,53
TNters - o mic 26 (1,121,235,111) (420,626,186)

{4,400,850,736) 825,244 644

Net fncrease i loans and advances to customers

Net decrease / {increase) in investments at farr value through other
comprehensive ncome

Net decrease / (increase) i investments at fair value through profi or

loss
Net increase in Tivestments at amortized cost

(4,842,482,883)
547,647,551

3,121,359,613
(25,223,192,084)

(1,219,684,822)
(19,633,570

(518,529,885)
(5,858,612,029)

Net increase in customers’ deposits 128,550,047,184 23,778,981,918
Net increase in compulsory deposits with the Central Bank (75,562,449) (40,809,263 )
Net increase in deposiis with banks and financiat instituitions (13,412,657) (16,131,646)
Net increase in tertn deposits with the Central Bank (10,641,122,946) {3,214,743,586)
Net increase / (decrease) &n deposits from banks and financial mstiwitions 677,590,456 (61,200,537
Net increase i other assets (265,339,311} {44,591,780)
Net increase in other fabilities 2,440,112,758 102,950,773
Proceeds fom disposal of assets acquired  satisfaction of loans 11 38,216,500 -
Settlements made from provisions 20 {31,179,661) {8,367,208)
§9,881,831,735 13,704,473,009
Income tax paid {151,755} (41,443}
Dividends received from mvestments at fair value through profit or loss 30 176,400 52,920
Other movernent - (527,154)
Interest paid (373,256,268) (103,075,502}
Interest received 1,215,130,201 471,713,528
Net cash generated ffom operating activities 9,723,733,313 14,072,595,358
Cash flows {-om mvesting activities:
Proceeds ffom disposal of property and equipment 74,030,202 285,233
Acquisition of property and equipment (2,679,782} (5.183,650)
Net change in non-controling nterest - {60,269)
Net cash generated fom / (used in) investing activities 71,350,420 (4,958,686)
Cash flows ffom financing activities:
Settlement of lease liabilities 12 (33,475,787) (8,823.080)
Net increase in borrowings fom the Central Bank of Lebanen I8 127,089,824 11,599,649
Net cash generated Fom financing activities 93,614,037 2,776,569
‘Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 20,888,694,770 14,070,413,241
Cash and cash equivalents - Beginning of year 36 15,797,449,178 1,727,035,937
Cash and cash equivalents - End of year 36 106,686,143,943 15,797,449,178

The accompanying notes 1 to 43 form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements
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BLT BANK S.AL
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements For the year ended December 31, 2024

1. Geperal information

BLCS.A.L., (the "Group"), is a Lebanese joint stock company registered at the Commercial Re-gistler under
No. 1952 and on the Central Bank of Lebanon list of banks under No. 11. The Group is primarily involved

in investment, corporate and retail banking.
The Bank's headquarters are located at BLC Bank building, Adlieh Square, Beirut, Lebanon.
Fransabank S.A.L. is the direct parent of the Bank.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group comprise the firancial statements of the Bank and those
of its subsidiary (the “Group™):

Country of
Ownership interest Incorporation Business Activity
424 2023
% %
BLC Services S.AL., 01.33 91.33 Lebanon Insurance Brokerage

1.1 The Macro Economic Environment

Lebanon has been witnessing since the last quarter of 2019 severe events which had and continue to have
& significant impact on the fiscal, monetary and economic outlook, as well as deep recession that have

reached unprecedented levels,

Since 2020, the Lebanese economy has been recognized as a hyperinflationary economy, the currency
depreciation has accelerated and doliarization increased.

Lebanon’s sovereign credit ratings have witnessed a series of downgrades by all major rating agencies,
reaching the level of default in March 2020 following the Lebanese Government decision to discontinue

payments on all of its outstanding USD denominated Eurcbonds.

Throughout this sequence of events, the ability of the Lebanese Government and the banking sector in
Lebanon to borrow funds from international markets was affected. As a result of the ensuing shortage in
US Doillars, local banks have imnosed de-facto capital controls, restricted transfers of foreign currencies
outside Lebanon, allowed limited cash withdrawals, ceased financing activities and can nc longer aftract
new deposits easily. The difficuity of accessing foreign currencies led to the emergence of parallel exchange
rates to the official peg deviating significantiy from the official rate LBP/USD.

In February 2023, the Ministry of Finance and the Central Bank of Lebanon (BDL) increased the official
published exchange rate LBP/USD from 1,507.5 to 15,000. In January 2024, the BDL sets the LBP/USD
exchange rate at §9,500 to align with the prevailing market rate, which remains unchanged as of the date

of issuance of these financial statements.

As aresult, the Lebanese market saw the need to differentiate between foreign currency bank accounts that
are subject to de-facto capital controls (funds which existed within the Lebanese banking sector prior to
October 2019) and those that are not subject to capital controls (as they are sourced from foreign currency
cash and/or from incoming transfers from abroad). Companies have been transacting on the basis of
multiple exchange rates depending on the nature of transactions and stakeholders (clients, suppliers, other

stakeholders).
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BLC BANDKR 3. AL

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2024

Iuternational Menetary Fund (IMF)
On 7 Apiil 2022, the Lebanese authorities and the IMF teamn have reached a staff-level agreement on a

comprehensive economic reform program for a US§$ 3 billion that could be supported by a 46-month
Extended Fund Arrangement ( £FF). This agreement is subject to the approval of IMF management and the
Executive Board, after the timely implementation of all prior actions and confimmation of international
partners’ financal support. Lebanon has not met the basic conditions required by this agreement,

A delegation from the IMF conducted a “fact-finding" mission in Lebanon during March 2025 and 1t
welcomed the Lebanese authorities’ request for a new [MF-supportad program to support their efforts to
address Lebanon’s significant economic challenges.

Lebanese Government’s Financial Recovery Plan

On 20 May 2022, the Lebanese Government endorsed a financial recovery plan which includes severat
measures to secure intemational #id and unlock funds from the IMF. As a result of the political paralysis, up
until January 2025, laws ior the (cmstatement of financial stability, for the restructuliag wi'the Sanking sector
and for capital controls are vet to be issued. Despite the urgency for action, progress in implementing the
recovery ;. has heen slow, with intemal ot ests and disputes stallitr <= prog.am.

The IMF delegation has conditioned further cooperation on the presence of a comprehensive financial and
economic recovery plan agreed upon by alt stakeholders, including the government, parliament, central
bank, commercial banks, and depositors. The recent political developments in Lebanon have led to cautious
optimism for an improvement in the country’s economic situation.

Regiornal conflict _ _
Amid the Middle Eastern conflict’s spillover, October 2023 saw an escalation in military confrontation on

Lebanon’s southern border. In September 2024, the impact of the ongoing conflict has intensified, marked
by escalating military confrontation, widespread destruction to local establishments and infrastructure across
Lebanon, particularly in the south, the Bekaa valley, and Beirut's southern suburbs. A temporary ceasefire
for 60 days was announced on 27 November 2024 and has been extended multiple times, but violations
continue to oceur.

Reconstruction and recovery needs following the conflict that affected Lebanon are estimated at USD 11
billion, according to a “Lebanon Rapid Damage and Needs Assessment (RDNA) 2025 report” released by

the World Bank.

Lebanon’s Post-Ceasefire Economic Outlook

As a result of the recent political developments (ceasefire agreement, presidential electicns, new cabinet
announcement, etc), Lebanon’s economy and money market with the rebound in Lebanon’s Eurobonds, have
shown signs of cautious optimism driven by renewed political stability and infernational support. However,
the econom:y remains fragile, with significant damage to infrastructure and ongoing challenges in sectors

such as tourism and agriculture.

Bapking secrecy law

During April 2025, the Lebanese Parliament approved the amendments of the Lebanese banking secrecy
law, marking a crucial step towards financial transparency and alignment with intermational standards. The
recent amendment aims to grant authorized entities - including independent auditors, regulatory bodies, and
the central bank - access to banking records dating back ten years, a key demand by the IMF to advance
Lebanon’s economic reform agenda.
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BLC BANK S.A.L
Notes to the Consclidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2024

Restructuring the banking sector

During April 2025, Lebanon’s Cabinet has approved the draft banking restructuring law which is yet to be
approved by tne Parliament. The bank restructuring law aims at reinstating stability in the financial sector,
protecting deposits during the restructuring and recovery process, limiting the use of public funds in the
bank restructuring process and ensuring that basic functions of banks are not interrupted.

The draft law also lists a set of criteria that will determine if a bank is failing or likely to fail namely its
ability to meet minimum capital adequacy requirements, minimum liquidity requirements, achieve and
maintain profitability, honor its due liabilities, among others.

The Higher Banking Commission can utilize several tools to address the situation of concerned banks, such
as bail-in, recapitalization by existing or new shareholders, transferring part or all of the balance sheet to
another institution, and mergers with other banks.

1.2 Central Bank of Lebanon (BDL) policy initiatives
Since thes beginning oi'the crisis in October 2019, ... .cmre! 2ank of Lebanon has issuex a series of circulars
reflecting on policy initiatives and crisis management. Below is brief of the key circulars:

Repuiatory framework;

e Intermediate Circular 567 :

- BDL licensees should apply the following minimum regulatory expected credit loss (“ECL”) ratios,
while permitting banks to constitute progressively those ECLs over a period of five years (starting
from 2020). The BDL Central Council may consider the extension of the period to 10 years, for
banks that manage to complete the 20% cash contribution to capital requirement. Intermediate
circular 649 issued on 24 November 2022 replaced the aforementioned five years and ten years
deadline by the fixed dates of 31 December 2026 and 31 December 2029 respectively:

o Foreign currency placements with BDL, including certificates of deposits: 1.89%
o Local currency deposits with BDL: 0%

o Lebanese government bonds in foreign currencies: 75%

© Lebanese treasury bills in local currency: 0%

- BDL licensees are zllowed not to downgrade loans exposures showing past dues (principal and
interest) between February 2020 and December 2020 as a result of COVID-19, uniess borrower
ceases to operate as a going concern, in which case exposure should be automatically downgraded

to Stage 3.

- Prohibition of dividends distribution on banks’ :ommeon shares for the years 2019 and 2020, then
extended to the years 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024 as per Intermediate Circulars 616, 659, 676 and
726.

= By 28 February 2021 (extended), banks should complete a 20% increase of the common equity tier [
capital as at 31 December 2018. The BDL Central Council may consider for banks to complete
50% of this capital increase through transfer of real estate by the sharcholders, provided these are
liquidated within 5 years.

- Banks can include the revaluation surplus of property and equipment in Tier I capital, subject to
BDL approval on the revaluation. However, on 20 January 2023, Intermediate Circular 659 capped
the inclusion of revaluation of property and equipment at 50% in Common Equity Tier 1 under
certain conditions while allowing the use of the prevailing Sayrafa rate at the end of each reporting

period over 5 yeaars.
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BLLC BANK 5.A.L
Notes o the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2024

Besides, it widened the scope of revaluation to include participations and long-term loans to
affiliated banks and firancial institutions. Intermediate Circular 685 issued on 28 December 2023
increased the contribution of this revaluation to Commen Equity Tier 1 from 50% to 75%.

Banks must comply with the minimum capital adequacy ratios. Bank should refrain from dividend
distribution, should these ratios falj below 7% for Common Equity Tier [ ratio; 10% for Tier I ratio;
and 12% for total capital ratio.

Furthermore, if the capital conservation buffer on Common Equity falls below 2.5% of risk
weighted assets during 2020 and 2021, banks should rebuild the gap by end of 2024, by a minimum
of 0.75% per year, starting 2022, Intermediate Circular 689 issued on 2 February 2024 allowed a

full draw down of the 2.5% buffer during years 2023 and 2024.
Central Bank of Lebanon will issue future instructions for reconstitution of capital.

- Banks are required to submit a comprehensive plan to BDL, reflecting own strategies to compiy
with the regulatory minimum c2rital requirements. including the timeline to achieve compliance.
The plan should incolpoiaie allowances required by the Banxing Control Commiss.ou: ot Lebanon
against different risks banks are exposed to.

As exceptional measures for the years 2020 and 2021, 100% of ECL on Stage 1 and Stage 2
exposures (except those against sovereign and BDL exposures in local and foreign currency), may
be added to common equity Tier I capital. These will be gradually amortized to 75% in 2022, 50%

in 2023 and 25% in 2024.

o Basic Circular 154 :

- Banks should perform a fair value assessment of their assets and liabilities and set a plan to comply
with all applicable regulatory requirements, namely those related te liquidity and capital adequacy,
and restore their levels of service which were in place before the economic crisis. Banks should
also submit a request to the BDL Central Council to reconstitute/raise their capital to the required
levels by the end of the first quarter of the year 2021, where applicable. In this respect, banks shall
consider soliciting their depositors to convert their deposits into shares or bonds, provided listing
the bank’s shares on the Beirut Stock Exchange.

- In order to enhance their offshore liquidity, banks are required to instigate those depositors to
repatriate 30% (in the case of banks’ key executives and politically exposed persons) and 15% (for
other depositors) of their overseas transfers made since 1 July 2017 and exceeding the equivalent
of USD 500,000. Funds received will be deposited in special saving accounts for 5 years (extended
to 8 year-term following Intermediate Circular 707 dated 20 September 2024) and will not be

subject to compulsory reserve requirements.

- Banks should secure by 28 February 2021, offshore foreign currency deposits equivalent to a
minimum of 3% of their total foreign currency depasits as at 31 July 2020. The requirement was
later subject to several amendments; the latest (Intermediate Circular 707) considered foreign
currencies deposits as at 31 July 2024 as the basis for the computation instead of 31 July 2020, thus
lowering liquidity required levels as customers’ deposits decreased over the period. Banks are
granted a time limit ending 31 December 2025 to adjust their situation accordingly. Also it added
to the numerator Lebanese sovereign Burobonds as well as US Treasury and Investment grade
foreign debt instruments on the condition they are held at fair value. Intermediate Circular 716
issued on 21 November 2024 expanded again the scope to include sovereign debts instruments
issued by G10 countries and debt instruments rated “BBB” and above held at fair value.
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BLC BANK S.ALL
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2024

Intermediate Circular 600 (amending Basic Cireular 73) issued on 3 November 2021 requires banks
to record existing and future provisions for expected credit losses in the same currency as the related
assets and off-balance sheet exposures. Banks are also required to set in place necessary measures to
manage their FX position resulting from provisicns recorded in foreign currencies.

Basic Circular 163 issued on 27 May 2022 defining the framework for the monitoring of the accounts
of public officials, the performance of due diligence on their operations and the reporting to the Special
Investigation Committee on the basis of founded suspicion.

Intermediate Circular 649 issued on 24 November 2022 (amending Basic Circulars 44 gmd 143)
introduced a forbearance treatment in capital ratios computation by allowing the exclus"]lon from
Common Equity Tier ! of a portion of losses incurred from FX purchases from BDL against LBP

hanknotes (66% and 337, :pectively in 2022 and 2023}

Interizs " e Chcular 708 issued on 20 September 2024 (amend - Rasic Clrculars 43 and 44)
changing the treatment of revaluation of foreclosed assets for regulatory capital calculation, to become
atllowed for inclusion as Common Equity Tier 1 for 75% of its value (previcusly 33% of this reserve
was allowed for inclusion as Tier 2), subject to approval of the Central Bank of Lebanon on the
revaluation gain and on the completion of the revaluation before 31 December 2025.

Intermediate Circular 692 issued on 15 February 2024 amending the provisions of BDL Basic Circy[ar
83 which defines the framework of the system for fighting Money Laundering and Terrorist.Financmg,
The circular requested banks & financial institutions to establish within the AML/CFT Unit, an Anti-

bribery & Corruption Unit.

Monetary policies and socio-economic support:

@

Intermediate Circulars 547 and 552 issued on 23 March 2020 and 22 April 2020 respectively
requesting banks to rollover loans to customers in local and foreign currencies maturing between
March 2020 to June 2020 up to 5 years at zero inierest rate and fees, subject to the bank assessment of
the customers’ inability to settle their dues because of the economic situation. BDL also allowed the
extension of loans to businesses to fund salaries and operating expenses, at the same terms mentioned
above. In return, BDIL would extend loans to banks in USD at zero interest rates against those loans to
banks’ customers. '

Basic Circuler 150 issued on 9 April 2020 exempting banks from placing mandatory reserves with the
Central Bank of Lebanon in relation to funds transferred from abroad cr cash deposits in foreign
currency rece.ved after ¢ April 2020 subject to preserving and guaranteeing the liberty of the depositors
in determining the use of these funds and benefiting from all kinds of banking services (transfers
abroad, international credit card limits, foreign currency cash withdrawals, ...).

Banks are requested to maintain at all times an amount equivalent to those funds in the form of (i) cash
held in vaults at the Bank’s premises, (ii) offshore accounts held with correspondents and (iii) “cash
money” accounts held with BDL. as per Basic Circular 165 definition. Intermediate Circular 715 issued
on 21 November 2024 expanded the scope to include sovereign debts instruments issued by G10
countries and debt instruments rated “BBB” and above on the condition they are held at fair value.

Basic Circular 152 and Intermediate Circular 569 issued on 6 August 2020 and 26 August 2020
respectively allowing banks extension of loans up to 5 years at zero interest rate, to help those affected
by the Beirut Seaport explosion. In return, BDL would extend loans to banks in USD at zero interest

rates against those loans to banks’ customers.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 20624

Intermediate Circular 568 issued on 26 August 2620 requesting banks to accept repayment by resident
customers of their USD denominated retail loans (up to USD 800,000 for housing loans and USD
100,000 for retail loans) in local currency at the official exchange rate (LBP 1,507.5 to the USD). On
20 January 2023, Intermediate Circular 656 revoked the aforementioned decision and banded the non-

resident customers to settle their payments in offshore USD.

Basic Circular 162 issued on 28 March 2022 requesting banks to secure a sufficient level of liqgidity
to allow public sector employees to withdrasw their monthly salaries and other compensations without

setting any type of limits.

Intermediate Circular 637 issued on 27 July 2022 (amending Basic Circulars 65 and 78) requires banks
selling real estate properties or participations acquired in accordance with the provisions of Article 153
or 154 of the CMC, only against fresh USD or its equivalent in LBP based on the Sayrafa platform

o,

Basic Circular 145 wssued on 12 October 2077 requi:2s banks to report to the Banking Control
Commission on the cost of their monthly operating expenses that should be paid with fresh money, the
resources for settling these expenses and how to ensure those resources.

Intermediate Circular 648 issued on 1 November 2022 (amending Basic Circulars 14 and 67) reduced
by 50% the interest rates on foreign currencies placements with BDL and on Certificates of Deposit
issued by BDL while continuing paying 50% of coupon payment in the instrument’s currency and 50%
i LBP at official rate (LBP 1,507.5 to the US Dollar until 31 January 2023 and LBP 15,000 to the US
Dollar afterwards). This circular was later amended on 2 February 2024 by Intermediate Circular 686
increasing the interest rate reduction on foreign currencies placements with BDL and on Certificates
of Deposit jssued by BDL from 50% to 75% while limiting the coupon payment to be in FCY only.
The Intermediate Circular 701 issued on 27 June 2024 specified that interests paid in USD by BDL oa
the banks’ term deposits in US dollars and on Certificates of deposit in US Dollars owned by banks
will be placed in the “non-cash money” current account opened at BDL for the concerned bank. Those
provisions are applicable until 31 December 2024. Intermediate Circular 719 issued on 17 December

2024 extended the deadline to 30 June 2025.

Intermediate Circular 712 issued on 10 October 2024 (amending Basic Circular 147) stipulates that
the bank that issued a banker’s check to one of its client, has to return the check to the client’s account
upon the client’s request and under his responsibility, provided the check has not been endorsed and
there are no legal restrictions or ongoing litigations between the client and the bank regarding this
check or the client’s account. If the client’s account has been closed, the bank is required to reopen it
m order to deposit the check. If eligible, the client may benefit from the provisions of 8DL Basic

Circulars 158 and 166 or any future related circulars.

Foreign exchange policies:

Basic Circular 151 issued on 21 April 2020 and concerning depositors who wish to withdraw amounts
of cash from their foreign currencies accounts as per a specific rate up to limits set by the Bank. The
exchange rate specified by the Central Bank of Lebanon in its transactions with banks will remain
applicable to all other operations in US Dollar. At maturity as at 31 December 2023, the circular was

not renewed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2024

Basic Circular 157 “Exceptional Procedures on Foreign currency Operations " issued on 10 May 2021
enacting the legal and regulatory framework of the ‘Sayrafa’ foreign exchange trading platform
developed by the Central Bank of Lebanon. Transactions that can be conducted on the ‘Sayrafa’
platform consist of purchasing LBP in exchange of fresh foreign currency and purchasing fresh foreign
currency in exchange of LBP.

Banks are required to properly document each transaction and should not collect commission margins

between buy and sell operations exceeding 1%.

Basic Circular 158 “Exceptional Measures for the Gradual Withdrawal of Deposits in Foreign
currencies” issued on 8 June 2021 setting out an exceptional framework for the seftlement of onshore
foreign currency deposits up to an amount equivalent to USD 50,000. To benefit from the provisions of
the said circular, certain eligibility criteria must be met.

Customers’ monthly cniitiements are (i) an amen - ~f1JSE: 400 i cash or equivaleci {ranster abroad,
credited 1c a payment card with intern=tional usage, etc...) and (ii} an 2mount in LBP equivalent to
USD 400 and converted at a rate USL/LBP 12,000 (before amendment USD/LBP at 15,00v on 26
January 2023), noting that 50% of the amount will be paid in cash and 50% will be credited to a
payment card. On 5 July 2023, the Intermediate Circular 674 introduced several amendments to the
Basic Circular 158. First, it cancelled the amount in LBP that clients were able to withdraw on a

monthly basis from their foreign currencies’ accounts opened before 31 October 2019.

Second, for the US Dollars portion, the monthly withdrawal remains unchanged at USD 400 per
month from the outstanding balance of subaccount opened prior to 1 July 2023 when the client signed
the agreement with the Bank based on the aforementioned circular. Third, for all subaccounts created
after 30 June 2023, the monthly withdrawal limit is set at USD 300 per month.

On 17 November 2023, BDL issued Intermediate Circular 682 adding an eligibility criteria to benefit
from Basic Circular 158; Customers who have transferred their funds after the crisis to another local
Bank can benefit from the provisions of said circular if (i) transferred funds are refurned to the
originating bank, and if (ii} the customer hadn’t benefited from the circular neither from the originating
Bank, nor the destination Bank. The financing of the aforementioned process will be secured equally
through (i) BDL reduction of compulsory reserves requirements from 15% to 14% as per BDL
Intermedtary Circular 586 and (ii) the Bank’s offshore liquidity. To that end, the Bank can use its
foreign liquidity subject computed as per BDL Basic Circular 154 requirements on the condition that
it reconstitutes it by 31 December 2024 as amended by the Intermediate Circular 674 issued on 5 July

2023,

On 8 June 2024, B DL issued Intermediate Circular 697 expanding the scope of beneficiaries to include
minors. Besides, beneficiaries of BDL Basic Circular 158 can now benefit from BDL Basic Circular
166 as long they don’t benefit from both circulars concurrently in the same “yearly cycle” (1st of July
in any given year -30th of June in the following vear). The yearly cycle requirement was later on
removed by Intermediate Circular 717 issued on 26 November 2024.

During 2024 several intermediary circulars were issued granting additional payments to beneficiaries
of Basic Circular 158 (2 in October 2024, I for each month from November 2024 to January 2025) Al}
additional payments were financed from the Bank’s compulsory reserves with BDL in foreign
currency. Intermediate circular 729 issued on 20 February 2025 increased the monthly payment to be
USD 500 for all beneficiaries of Basic Circular 158. The additional amounts were financed from the

Bank’s compulsory reserves with BDL in foreign currency.

18



BLC BANK S.A.L
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Basic Circular 159 issued on 17 August 2021 preventing banks from processing foreign currency funds
received from customers whether in the form of cash or through offshore fransfers at a value other than
its face value, with the exception of transactions pertaining to the settlement of loans (which was
subsequently remaoved by Intermediate Circular 671 issued on 20 June 2023).

It also prevented banks from purchasing foreign currencies at parallel rate with the exception of the
purchase foreign currencies duly recorded on the electronic platform and resulting from offshore
incoming transfers with the purpose of (i) enhancing liquidity, (ii) engaging in medium or long-term
mvestments, (iii) settling international commitments. Finally, the circular prevented banks from
purchasing bankers’ checks and other bank’s accounts in foreign currencies whether directly or

indirectly.

Dntermediate Circular 667 issued ~n 13 April 20623 (ameuding wasic Circular 69) ~shanciaz the
tramework of “Electronic Banking and Financial Operations” by introducing mainly new detailed rules
applicable to E-sirnature, E-KYC and data proteciion, along with the related zuthorization processes
from regutatory Lodies.

Basic Circular 165 issued on 19 April 2023 and requesting banks to open new accounts at BDL in LBP
and in US$ specifically and exclusively for the “Cash Money” (i.e. money transferred from abroad
and/or received as banknotes in foreign currencies after 17 November 2019 in addition to the money
deposited or which will be deposited as banknotes in new accounts in LBP and which respect the
conditions set in BDL basic circular 150 for “fresh money”). These new accounts will be used for the
seltlement, compensation & transfer operations through BDL National Payment System (BDL-NPS).

Intermediate Circular 683 issued on 17 November 2023 amending the provisions of BDL Basic
Circular 32 which defines the framework of Foreign Exchange (“FX™) operations in Banks operating
in Lebanon and various FX positions computation. This circular came on the wake of several
amendments applied in 2023 (Intermediate Circular 659, Intermediate Circular 675 and Intermediate
Circular 677) aiming at converging to the IAS 21: The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates
differentiating monetary from non-monetary items and the corresponding impact on the Bank’s FX
position. Based on the new definition, the Bank is authorized to hold a Special Long FX position to
hedge its core equity against FX risk. This special long FX position is to be deducted from the FX
open position to reach the FX Trading Position. Besides, the circular reintroduced the 1% maximum
limit (if the Bank holds concurrently a long open position and a net long trading position) on net trading
position and 40% limit on Global position, while cancelling ali previously authorized structural/fixed
positions and uny forbearance limit. The Intermediate Circular 730 issued on 20 February 2025 stated
that excesses cver set limits whether long or short should be liquidated by 31 December 2025.

Intermediate Circular 689 issued on 2 February 2024 permitting the full inclusion in Common Equity
Tier 1 of balance of Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments as well as 75% of net changes from
FVTOCI instruments. Besides, it allowed a full draw down of the 2.5% capital conservation buffer

during years 2023 and 2024.

Intermediate Circular 690 issued on 2 February 2024 permitting the full inclusion in the regulatory
equity of positive balance (gains) of Foreign Currency Translation Reserve noting that this equity is
used for the computation of various regulatory ratios other than capital adequacy ratios (FX position,
limit of placement with FI, Code of money credit (“CMC”) 153 limit).
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¢ Basic Circular 166 issued on 2 February 2024 defining a new mechanism for the repayment of
restricted funds in FCY and de-facto replacing Basic Circular 151, which authorized limited
withdrawals in LBP {vom FCY accounts at pre-defined exchange rates and has rot been renewed.
Beneficiaries from said circular — who cannot be old or current beneficiaries from Basic Circular 158
- would be abie to withdraw on a monthly basis USD 150 iu cash up to a cumulative amount of USD
4,350 until June 2026, 50% of said amount will be financed from the Bank’s own liquidity and 50%

from the Bank’s restricted funds with BDL.

Certain exclusions parameters apply to potential customers wishing to benefit from the circular
(Customers who did not return offshore transfers as per Basic Circular 154, traders of checks,
customers who settled their FCY loans for an amount equivalent to USD 300,000 from LBP proceeds,
beneficiaries of Sayrafa transactions above or equal to USD 75,000, corporate clients, etc...). On 27
June 2024, Intzi.udiaie Uircular 698 expanded the scope of beneficiaries 20 e minors. Besides,
heneficiaries of BDL Basic Circular 166 can now benefit from BDL Basic Circular 158 as lons they
uon’t benefit from both circuiars concwrently in the sazue “yeariy cycle” {(1st of July in auy given year
-30" of June in the following year). The yearly cycle requirement was later on removed by Intermediate
Circular 718 issued on 26 November 2024. On 20 February 2025, Intermediate Circular 728 increased
the monthly amount that can be withdrawn to USD 250. The additional amounts were financed from
the Bank’s compulsory reserves with BDL in foreign currency.

®  Basic Circular 167 issued on 2 February 2024 defining the published rate on BDL’s electronic platform
as the FX translation rate for the Bank’s FCY monetary items as well for the non-monetary assets
measured at fair value and assets measured as per equity method in line with IAS 21. This measure
applies starting 31 January 2024 reported financials.

1.3 The Group’s Financial particulars

1.3.1 Foreign exchange

Several exchange rates had emerged since the last quarter of 2019 that varied significantly among each
other and from the official published exchange rate. in February 2023, the official exchange rate LBP/USD
was changed from LBP 1,507.5 to LBP 15,000 to the US Dollar. In January 2024, the BDL sets the
LBP/USD exchange rate at 89,500 to align with the prevailing market rate, which remains unchanged as of
the date of issuance of these financial statements.

In 2023 and 2024, transactions and monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currency, regardless of whether
they are nnshore or offshore, were reflected in these consolidated financial statements at the exchange rates
publishe: 1 by the Central Bank of Lebanon, as follows:

2024 2023
Year-end Rate  Average Rate Year-end Rate  Average Rate
LBP LEP LBP LBP
US Dellar 89,500 89,500 15,600 13,876
Euro 93,465 96,752 16,695 15,049
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31 December 2024

During February 2024, the Central Bank of Lebanon issued Basjc Circular No. 167 requesting banks and
financial institutions to translate their monetary assets and lizbilities denominated in foreign currency using
the exchange rate published on BDL electronic platform (which stood at LBP 89,500 to the US Dollars)
effective January 31, 2024, aligning the rate with thz prevailing market rate.

The Group has applied the new rate to translate all monetary balances and transactions in foreign currencies
regardless of their source or nature. With respect to onshore monetary assets and liabilities, subject to de-
facto capital controls, this does not represent a reasonabie estimate of expected cash flows in Lebanese
Pounds that would have to be generated/used from the realisation of such assets or the payment of such

liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial staternents.

37 December 2023

In February 2023, the Central Bank of Lebanon changed the official published exchange rate from LBP
1,507.5t0 T.BP 15,000 1o the US Dollars, whizh significantly varies from the exchange rates in the paralle!
markets. 1he Group has applied the new rate 10 translate ali monetary baiances and transactions i wreign
currencies, regardless of their source or nature, which did not represent a reasonable estimate of expected
cash flows in Lebanese Pounds that would have to be generated/used from the realisation of such assets or
the payment of such liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements.

1.3.2 Hyperinflation in Lebanon

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, all conditions have been met for the Group’s consolidated financial
statements to incorporate the inflation adjustment provided under IAS 29 “Financial Reporting in
Hyperinflationary Economies”, IFRS requires that financial statements of any entity whose functional
currency is the currency of a hyperinflationary economy be restated into the current purchasing power at
the end of the reporting period. Paragraph 4 of IAS 29 states that it is preferable for all entities that report
in the currency of a hyperinflatiouary economy to apply the standard at the same date. In order to achicve
uniformity as to the identification of an economic environment of this kind, IAS 29 provides certain
guidelines: a cumulative three-year inflation rate exceeding 100% is a strong indicator of hyperinflation,
but also qualitative factors, such as analyzing the behavior of population, prices, interest rates and wages
should also be considered.

The Lebanese Central Administration of Statistics reported 3-year and 12-month cumulative rates of
inflation of 666% and 18%, respectively, as at December 31, 2024 (2023: 2,005% and 192%,). Qualitative
indicators, following the deteriorating economic condition and currency controls, also support the
conclusion that Lebanon is a hyperinflationary economy for accounting purposes for periods ending on or
after December 31, 2020.

Therefore, entities whose functional currency is the Lebanese Liras, should restate their financial statements
to reflect the effects of inflation in conformity with IAS 29. Such restatement shall be made as if the Lebanese
economy has always been hyperinflationary; using a general price index that reflects the changes in the
currency’s purchasing power.

The effects of the application of IAS 29 are summarized below: .
(a) Financial statements must be adjusted to consider the changes in the currency’s general purghasmg
power, so that they are expressed in the current unit of measure at the end of the reporting period.
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{(b) In summary, the restatement method under [AS 29 is as follows:

1. Monetary items are noi restated in as much as they are already expressed in terms of the measuring
Wit current at the closing date of the reporting period.
In an inflationary period, keeping monetary assets generates [oss of purchasing power and keeping
monetary liabilities generates an increase in purchasing power. The net monetary gain or loss shall
be included as income for the period for which it is reported.

ii. Non-monetary items carried at the current value of the end date of the reporting period shall not
be restated to be presented in the balance sheet, but the restatement process must be completed in
order to determine into the current purchasing power at the end of the reporting period the income
derived from such non-monetary items.

L. Non-monetary items carried at historical cost or at the current value of a date prior to the end of
the reporting period are restated using coefficients that reflect the variaticn recorded in the general
levei of prices from the date 6: acquisidon or revaluation to tiie closing date of the reponicg
period, then comnaring th= restated amounts of suck assels with the relevant ronoveral:!s values.

Depreciation cuarges of property, plant and equipment and amortization charges ot intangible

assets recognized in profit or loss for the period, as well as any other consumption of non-

monetary assets will be determined based on the new restated amounts.

iv. Income and expenses are restated from the date when they were recorded, except for those profit
or loss items that reflect or include in their determination the consumption of assets carried at the
purchasing power of the currency as of a date prior to the recording of the consumption, which
are restated based on the date when the asset to which the item is related originated; and except
those profit or loss items originated from comparing two measurements expressed in the
purchasing power of currency as of different dates, for which it is necessary to identify the
compared amounts, restate them separately, and compare them again, but with the restated
amounts.

v. Al the beginning of the first year of application of the restatement method of consolidated
financial statements in terms of the current measuring unit, the prior-year comparatives are
restated in terms of the measuring unit current at the end of the current reporting period. The
equity components, except for reserved earnings and undistributed retained earnings, shall also
be restated, and the amount of undistributed retained earnings shall be determined by the
difference between net assets restated at the date of transition and the other components of
opening equity expressed as indicated above, once all remaining equity components are restated.

As of the date of the accompanying consolidated financial statements, Management is temporarily unable
to apply the above-mentioned standard nor is it able to quantify the effect that the application of IAS 29
would have on the presented consolidated financial statements due to the following considerations: the
significant divergence in exchange rates, the lack of consensus on the general price index and the lack of
views of relevant regulators, including tax authorities. However, management estimates such effects to be
significant.

This situation must be taken into account when interpreting the information reported by the Bank in the
accompanying financial statements including its statement of financial position, statement of profit or loss,
statement of comprehensive income and cash flow statement.

The Group is assessing the date at which it will apply IAS 29. The application of IAS 29 is very complex
and requires the Bank to develop new accounting software and processes, internal controls and governance
framework. Accordingly, the Bank has postponed the application of IAS 29 and incurring costs for
developing accounting processes and a governance framework until The Group is comfortable that such

application would provide the users with more relevant information.
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1.3.3 Exposure to financial instrumenés

As at December 31, 2024, the Group's net credit exposure to Lebanese sovereign debt, including BDL,
represented approximately 85% of total assets (2023: 64%).

As at 31 December 2024, loss allowances on assets held at the Central Bank of Lebanon and the portfolio
of Lebanese government securities held at amortized cost are recorded in these consolidated financial
statements at the loss rates mentioned in the Central Bank of Lebanon’s Intermediate Circular 567. Due to
the high levels of uncertainties, the lack of observable indicators, and the lack of visibility on the
government’s plans with respect to the Group’s exposures to the Central Bank of Lebanon and Lebanese
sovereign, management is unable to estimate in a reasonable manner expected credit losses on these
exposures. Accordingly, these consolidated financial statements do not include adjustments of the carrying
amount of these assets to their recoverable amounts based on International Financial Reporting Standards

and an expected ~....;i logs model.

“he impont is expected to be pervasive and will be refiected i+ -*= cons.lidated financial statemeis once the
debt restructuring has been defined conclusively by the government and all uncertainties and constraints are
resolved and the mechanism for allocating losses by asset class and currency is clear and conclusive.
Maximum exposures to the credit risk of the Central Bank of Lebanon and the Lebanese government and the
recognized loss allowances, as well as their staging are detailed in note 38 to these consolidated financial

staterments.

The financial position of the Group, as reported in these consolidated financial statements, does not reflect
the adjustments that would be required by IFRS as a result of the future government reform program, the
deep recession, the currency crisis and the hyperinflation. Due to the high levels of uncertainties, the lack
of observable indicators, the high gap between the parallel market rates, the Sayrafa rate, the Platform Rate
and the official published exchange rate and the lack of visibility on the government’s plans with respect
to: (a) the high exposures of banks with the Central Bank of Lebanon, (b) the Lebanese Sovereign securities,
and (c) the currency exchange mechanisms and currency exchange rates that will be applied, management
is unable to estimate in a reasonable manner, the impact of these matters on its consolidated financial

position.

Management considers that the adverse impact of the above is expected to be pervasive and will have a
significant negative impact on the equity of the Group and the recapitalization needs that will arise once
the necessary adjustments are determined and recorded.

1.3.4 Litigatiors and claims

Until the above uncertainties are resolved, the (3roup is continuing its operations as performed since 17
October 2019 and in accordance with the laws and regulations. Unofficial capital controls and inability to
transfer foreign currencies to correspondent banks outside Lebanon are exposing the Group to litigations
that are dealt with on a case-by-case basis when they occur. The Group has been subject to increased
litigations as a result of these restrictive measures adopted by Lebanese banks in relation to withdrawal of
funds and transfers abroad, as well as in relation to the repayment by customers of local foreign currency
loans in Lebanese pound. Management is carefully considering the impact of these existing litigations and
claims. There are still uncertainties related to the consequences of these restrictive measures based on the
current available information and the prevailing laws and local banking practices.
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However, due to recent development and the increasing trend in judgments ruled in favor of the plaintiffs
and customers during 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024, management considers that they may affect negatively
the offshore fiquidity of the Group, its foreign assets and its foreign currency mismatch. as disclosed in
Note 40. The amount cannot be determined at present.

1.3.5 Taxes, Social Security Contributions and Related Provisions

Due to the availability of several exchange rates in the Lebanese market, the determination of taxes, social
security contributions and related provisions in relation to transactions or activities in foreign currencies
are highly sensitive to the exchange rates applied. As a result of the unprecedented events and
circumstances, there is a high level of judgment involved in deciding on the exchange rates used and any
change in these exchange rates, would resuit in a different determination of taxes, social security
contrbuticrs and related provisions. :

1.3.6 Law No, 330

On December 4, 2024, Law No. 330 was enacted, amending Article 45 of the Income Tax Law No. 144 and
its amendments. The Law authorized taxpayers fo conduct a non-taxable exceptional revaluation of fixed
assets and inventory and to apply an exceptional tax treatment of positive and negative foreign exchange
differences arising from the devaluation of the Lebanese Pound on receivables, payables, and financial
accounts denominated in foreign currency. These provisions apply to financial periods starting from the
year 2022 till the 31st of December 2026. On March 12, 2025, the Ministry of Finance issued decisions No.
338, 339 and 340 related to the application of Law No. 330. As of the date of issuance of the financial
statements, management is unable to quantify or recognize any potential tax effects that may arise from the
application of this Law, pending the final approval of the relevant regulatory authorities.

2. Application of new and revised IFRS Accounting Standards as issned by the International
Accounting Standards Board (JASB) (IFRS Accounting Standards)
a-_New and amended Accounting Stapdards and Interpretations that are effective for the current

year
In the current year, the Group has applied the below amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards and
Interpretations that are effective for an annual period that begins on or after 1 January 2024. Their adoption
has not had any material impact on the disclosures or on the amounts reported in these financial staterments.

1. Amendments to IAS 7 - Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS7 - Financial Instruments:
Supplier Finance Arrangements
The amendment addresses the presentation requirements for liabilities and associated cash flows
arising from supply chain financing arrangements.

The amendments introduce two new disclosure objectives:

One in IAS 7: To provide information enabling users (investors) to assess the effects of supplier
finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities and cash flows.

Another in IFRS 7: To help users understand the effect of supplier finance arangements on an
entity’s exposure to liquidity risk and how the entity might be affected if these arrangements were

no longer available,

The amendments aim to enhance transparency and provide investors with better insights into how
supplier finance arrangements affect an entity’s financial position and risk exposure.
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2. Amendmenis to [AS | - Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
The amendments require that an entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve
months after the reporting period must have substance and must 2xist at the end of the reporting
period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its
right to defer setilement for at least twelve months after the reporting period.
The amendments also provide clarification on the meaning of ‘settlement’ for the purpose of
classifying a liability as current or non-current.

3. Amendments to IFRS 16 - Leases: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
The amendments specifically address the treatment of lease liability in a sale and leaseback scenario
and clarify how a seller-lessee subsequently measures sale and leaseback transactions that meet the
requirements in [FRS 15 tc be aceovnted Sr as a sale.
b- New and amended AccountingStaxﬁdax ds and Interpretations that are aot yet effective
ihe following amendmeriz  IFTLS ccounting standards have been issued but are nct -+ effective and
have not been early adopted by the Group.
1. Amendments 1o IAS 21 - The Effects of Changes in Foreign Fxchange Rates: Lack of
exchangeability
The amendments specify when a currency is exchangeable into another currency and when it is not,
and how an entity determines a spot rate when a currency lacks exchangeability.
Under the amendments, entities are required to provide additional disclosures to help users evaluate
how a currency's lack of exchangeability affects, or is expected to affect, its financial performance,
financial position and cash flows.

These amendments are effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025 with
early application permitted.

2. Amendments to IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments and IFRS 7 - Financial Instruments. Disclosures:
Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments
The Amendments modify the following requirements in IFRS 9 and IFRS 7:

Derecognition of financial liabilities
»  Derecognition of financial liabilities settled through electronic transfers.

Classification of financial assets
»  Elements of iaterest in a basic lending arrangement (the solely payments of principal and
interest assessment — ‘SPPI test”).
e  Contractual terms that change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows.
e Financial assets with non-recourse features.
o Investmenis in contractually linked instruments.

Disclosures
®  Investments in equity instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive
lncome.

¢ Contractual terms that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows.

The Amendments may significantly affect how entities account for the derecognition of financial

liabilities and how financial assets are classified.
The Amendments permit an entity to early adopt only the amendments related to the classification
of financial assets and the related disclosures and apply the remaining amendments later.
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3.

This would be particularly useful to catities that wish to apply the Amendments early for financial
mstrments with ESG (Environmental, Social and Govermance)-linked or similar features.

These amendaments are effective for reporting periods beginning on or afier 1 January 2026 with
early application permitted.

IFRS 18 - Presentation and Disclosures in Financial Staiements

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements replaces IAS 1 Presentation of
Financia] Statements and sets out significant new requirements for how financial statements are
presented, with particular focus on:

o The statement of profit or loss, including requirements for mandatory sub-totals to be
presented. IFRS 18 introduces requirements for items of income and expense to be
classified into one of five categories in the statement of profit or loss. This classification
results in celiaiu sub-ictals being presented, sucn as the sum of all items ¢i 1acoms and
~xpense in the operating category comprising the new: manda:ory ‘operating profit or loss’
subd-total.

® Aggregation and disaggregation of information, including the introduction of overall
principles for how information should be aggregated and disaggregated in financial
statements.

e Disclosures related to management-defined performance measures (MPMs), which are
measures of financial performance based on a total or sub-total required by IFRS
Accounting Standards with adjustrnents made (e.g. ‘adjusted profit or loss”). Entities will
be required to disclose MPMs in the financial statements with disclosures, including
reconciliations of MPMs to the nearest total or sub-total calculated in accordance with

IFRS Accounting Standards.

The aim of the JASB in publishing IFRS 18 is to improve comparability and transparency of
companies’ performance reporting. IFRS 18 has also resulted in narrow changes to the statement
of cash flows and is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with early

application permitted.

The directors of the Group anticipate that the application of these amendments may have an impact
on the Group’s financial statements in future periods.

IFRS 19 - Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures
IFRS 19 permits eligible subsidiaries to apply reduced disclosure requirements while applying the
recognition. measurement and presentation requirements in IFRS Accounting Standards.

The eligibility criteria for an entity to apply IFRS 19 are:
& The entity is a subsidiary (as defined in Appendix A of IFRS 10 Consolidated Financiai
Statements);
#  The entity does not have public accountability; and
@ The entity has an ultimate or intermediate parent that produces consolidated financial
statements available for public use that comply with IFRS Accounting Standards.

IFRS 19 is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with early
application permitted.

Management anticipates that these new standards and amendments will be adopted in the Group’s financial

statements as and when they are applicable and adoption of these new standards, interpretations and

amendments may have no material impact on the Group’s financial statements in the period of initial
application, except as indicated above.
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3. Material accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the [nternationat Accounting Standard Board (IASB).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Lebanese Pound (LBP). which is the Group 's
reporting cuirency. The primary currency of the economic environment in which the Group operates
(functional currency) is the Lebanese Pound. All values are rounded to the nearest thousands, except when

indicated otherwise.

The consclidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis e'xcept 1_°or the
follrwing thot are measured at revaluzd amounts or fair values at the =nd of each reperting perind, as

ALGen

expiained in the accounting policies beiow:

e Owned properties and assets acquired in suustacticn of lvans are measured z: their revalued
amounts based on market prices as permitted by local regulations, to compensate for the

inflationary effects prevailing in earlier years. ‘
¢ Financial assets and liabilities are at fair value through profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.

Summary of material accounting policies

Following is a summary of the Group's material accounting policies:

A. Basis of Consolidaticn:

The Consolidated Financial statements of BLC Bank S.A.L. incorporated the financial statements of the
Bank and entities controlled by the Bank (its subsidiaries) at the reporting date. Control is achieved when
the Bank has:

» Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant

activities of the investee);
e Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and

s The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.
The Bank re-assesses whether or not it controls an 1vestee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Bank has less than a majority of the voting or similar right of 2n investee, the Bank consic 2rs
all refevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

o The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee.
= Rights arising from other contractual arrangements.
» The Bank’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Bank obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Bank loses control of the subsidiary.
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fncome and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Bauk gains
conirol until the date the Bank ceases to control the subsidiary.

Total Comprehensive income of sabsidiaries is attribuied to the owners of the Rank and to lLiue non-
controlling interests ever if this results in the non-controiling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial staternents of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with those used by the Bank.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses (except for foreign currency transaction gains
or loss) are eliminated on consolidated. Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealized

£aing, tat only to the extent that there is no evidence of L wrinent.

Changes in the Group’s owns....ip intarasts in subsidiaries that ¢ not result in the Group weing conirol
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
inferests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in
the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted
and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognized directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Bank.

Upon the loss of control, The Group derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-
controlling interests and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit
anising on the loss of control is recognized in profit and loss. If the Group retains any interest in the
previous subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair value at the date that control is lost.

B. Business combination

Acquisition of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in
a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date
fair values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for contrel of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred in profit and loss.

The consideration transferred does not inciude amounts related to the settlernent of pre-existing
relationships. Such amounts are generally recognized in profit and loss.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree (if any} over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the

liabilities assumed.

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognized immediately in profit and loss. where
applicable, adjustments are made to provisional value of recognized assets and liabilities related to facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date. These are adjusted to the provisional goodwill
amount. All other adjustments including above adjustments made after one year are recognized in profit

and loss except to correct an error in accordance with IAS 8.
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Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interest and entitie their holders to a proporiionate
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or
at the non-conirolling interests proportionate share of the recognized amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. The choice of the measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Non-
controlling interests in business acquisitions transacted so far by the Group were initially measured at the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of net assets acquired. Any contingent consideration payable
is recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent consideration is classified at equity, it
is not remeasured, and settlerent is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes to the fair
value of the contingent consideration are recognized in profit and loss.

C. Foreign currencies

Transactions in cumrencies otiser ™20 the Group's functional currency (foreign currencies) are “cognized
at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions (note 1.3.1). At the end of each reporting
period, = 2tarv bems denominated in foreign currencies are reiransle ! ot the uxchange rates prevailing
at that date (note 1.3.1).

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in

terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they arise
except for exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain foreign currency
risks, and except for exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign
operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future, which are
recognized in other comprehensive income, and presented in the translaiion reserve in equity. These are

recognized in profit or loss on disposal of the net investment.

D. Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized in the Group's statement of financial position when

the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Recognized financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs
that are directly attributabie to the acquisition or issuance of financial assets and {inancial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to or deducted <rom the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on ivitial recognition.

Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of “inancial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL
are recognized immediately in profit or loss.

If the transaction price differs from fair value at initial recognition, the Group will account for such

difference as follows:

o If fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability or
based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, then the difference is

recognized in profit or loss on initiaf recognition (i.e. day 1 profit or loss);

o In all other cases, the fair value will be adjusted to bring it in line with the transaction price (i.e. day

one profit or loss will be deferred by including it in the initial carrying amount of the asset or liability).
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After initial recognition, the deferred gain. or loss will be released to profit or loss on a rational basis, ouly
to the extent that it arises from a change in a factor (including time) that inarket participants would take
into account when pricing the assct or liability.

Exchange of debt securities:

Debt securities exchanged against securities with longer maturities with similar risks, and issued by the
same issuer, are not derecognized because they do not meet the conditions for derecognition. Premiums and
discounts derived from the exchange of said securities are deferred to be amortized as a yield enhancement

on a time proportionate basis, over the period of the extended maturities.

Repurchase and Reverse Repurchase Agreements: .
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase at a specified future date (“repos™) are not derecognized

{roin the statement of finere DostTn.

The comesponding consider:tion received, including »~~rued i.terest. is recognized or ine statement of
nnancial position reflecting its economic substances as a loan to the Group.

The difference between the sale and repurchase prices is treated as interest cxpense and is accrued over the
life of the agreement using the effective interest rate method.

Conversety, securities purchased under agreements to resell at a specified date are not recognized .in the
statement of financial position. The consideration paid, including accrued interest is recorded in the
statement of financial position reflecting the transaction’s economic substance as a loan by the Group. The
difference between the purchase and resale prices is treated as interest income in the statement of profit or
loss and is accrued over the life of the agreement using the effective interest rate method.

If securities purchased under agreement to resell are subsequently sold to third parties, the obligation to
return the securities is recorded as a short sale within “Financial liahilities at fair value through prc?ﬁt or
loss™ and measured at fair value with any gains or losses included in “Net trading (loss) gain” in the

consolidated income statement.

E. Financial assets

All financial assets are recognized and derecognized on a trade date where the purchase or sale of a
financial asset is under contract whose terms require delivery of the financial asset within the timeframe
established by the market concerned, and initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, except for
those financial ussets classified as at FVTPL. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets classified as at FVTPL are recognized immediately in profit or loss.

All recognized financial assets that are \within the scope of IFRS § are required to be subsequently
measured at amortized cost or fair value on the basis of the entity's business mode! for managing the
financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.

Specifically:

©  Debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual
cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding (SPPI), are subsequently measured at amortized cost;
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o Debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is both to collect the
contractual cash flows and to sell the debt instruments, and that have contractual cash flows that are
SPPI, are subsequently measured a: FVTOCI;

o All other debt instruments (e.g. debt instruments managed on a fair value basis or held for sale) and
equity investments are subsequentlv measured at FVTPL.

However, the Group may make the following irrevocable election / designation at initial recognition of a

financial asset on an asset-by-asset basis:

» The Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
that is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration recognized by an acquirer in a business
combination to which IFRS 3 applies. in OCI; and

= The Group may irrevocably cesignate a debt instrumc:: ..l we7ets the amortized cost o FVTOCI

criteria 25 measvred at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch

treferred to as the fair value option).

Debt instruments at amortized cost or at FVTOCI

For an asset to be classified and measured at amortized cost or at FVTOC], its contractual terms should
giveriseto cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding (SPPI).
An assessment of business models for managing financial assets is fundamental to the classification of a
financial asset. The Group determines the business models at a level that reflects how groups of financial
assets are managed together to achieve a particular business objective.

The Group’s business mode] does not depend on management's intentions for an individual instrument,
therefore, the business model assessment is performed at a higher level of aggregation rather than on an

Instrument-by-instrument basis.

When a debt instrumept measured at FVTOCI is derccognized, the cumulative gain/l(?ss 'previously
recognized in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss. In contrast, for an equity investment
designated as measured at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain/loss previously recognized in OCI is not

subsequently reclassified to profit or loss but transferred within equity.

The Group reassess its business models each reporting period to determine whether the business models
have changed since the preceding period.

Debt instruments that are subsequently measured at amortized cost or at FVTOCI are subject to
impairment.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are:

e assets with contractual cash flows that are not SPPI; or/and
2 assets that are held in a business model other than held to collect contractual cash flows or held to

collect and sell; or
@ assets designated at FVTPL using the fair value option.

These assets are measured at fair value, with any gains/losses arising on remeasurement recognized in
profii or loss. Fair value is determined in the manner described below.
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Reclassifications

If the business model under which the Group holds financial assets- changes, the financial assets affected
are reclassified. The classification and measurement :equiremenis related to the new category apply
prospectively from the first day of the first reporting period following the change in business model that
results in reclassifying the Group's financial assets.

Impairment
The Group recognizes loss allowances for ECL on the following financial instruments that are not
measured at FVTPL:

* deposits at banks

® loans and advances to banks

> loans and advances g customers

@ customers' {iahilifv vnder 2~ceptances
* debt investment securities

¢ loan commitments issued; and

o financial guarantee contracts issued.

No impairment loss is recognized on equity investments.

With the exception of Purchased or Originated Credit Impaired (POCI) financial assets (which are
considered separately below), ECLs are required to be measured through a loss allowance at an amount
equal to:
¢ [2-month ECL, i.e. lifetime ECL that result from those default events on the financial instrument
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date, (referred to as Stage 1); or
o full lifetime ECL, i.e. lifetime ECL that result from all possible default events over the tife of the
financial instrument, (referred to as Stage 2 and Stage 3).

A loss allowance for full lifetime ECL is required for a financial instrument if the credit risk on that
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition. For all other financial instruments,
ECLs are measured at an amount equal to the 12-month ECL.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of the present value of credit losses. These are measured as the ‘
sent value of the difference between the cash flows due to the Group under the contract and the cash ﬂc?ws
at the Group expects to receive arisirg from the weighting of multiple future economic scenasios,

discounted the asset's EIR.

o for undrawn loan commitments, the ECL is the difference between the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to the Group if the hol&jler of the
commitment draws down the loan and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive if the loan

is drawn down; and
» for financial guarantees contracts, the ECL is the difference between the expected payments to

reimburse the holder of the guaranteed debt instrument less any amounts that the Group expects
to receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

The Group measures ECL on an individual basis, or on a collective basis for portfolios of loans that share
similar economic risk characteristics. The measurement of the loss allowance is based on the present value
of the set's expected cash flows using the asset's original EIR, regardiess of whether it is measured on an
individual sis or a collective basis.
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Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is 'credit-impaired' when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. Credit-impaired financial cssets are
referred to as Stage assets. Evidence of credit-impairment includes observable data about the following

eorents:

®  significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer

s abreach of contract such as a default or past due event

= the lender of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower's financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider
the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties; or

@ the purchase of a financic” “2set at « deep discount that refizcis the incurred credit loge-

[x]

It mzy not be pessible to identify a single discrete even: - . ad, the combined effect of sevcru! evenfs may
we caused financial assets to become credit impaired. The Group assesses whether debt instruments that
are financial assets measured at amortized cost or FVTOC! are credit-impaired at each reporting date. To
assess if sovereign and corporate debt instruments are credit impaired, the Group considers factors such as
bond yields, edit ratings and the ability of the borrower te raise funding.

Purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) financial assets

POCI financial assets are treated differently because the asset is credit-impaired at initial recognition. For
these assets, the Group recognizes all changes in lifetime ECL since initial recognition as a los§ aIloyvance
with any changes recognized in profit or loss. A favorable change for such assets creates an impairment

gain.

Definition of default

Critical to the determination of ECL is the definition of ‘default. The definition of default is used in
measuring the amount of ECL and in the determination of whether the loss allowance is based on [ 2-month
or lifetime ECL, as default is a component of the probability of default (PD} which affects both the
measurement of ECLs rid the identification of a significant increase in credit risk.

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default:
® the borrower is past due more than 90 days on any material credit obligation to the Group; or
» the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in fuli.

The definition of default is appropriately tailored to reflect different characterstics of differer.lt types of
assets. Overdrafis are considered as being past due once the customer has breached an advised limit or has
been advised of a limit smaller than the current amount outstanding.

When assessing if the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligation, the Group takes into account both
qualitative and quantitative indicators.

The information assessed depends on the type of the asset, for example in corporate lending a qua.litative
indicator used is the breach of covenants, which is not relevant for retail lending. Quantitative indicators,

such as overdue status and non-payment on another obligation of the same counterparty are key inpu:ts in
this analysis. The Group uses a variety of sources of information to assess defauit which are either

developed internally or obtained from external sources.
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Significant increase in credit rick

The Group monitors all financial assets, issued loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts that
are subject to the impaliment requirements to assess whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. If there has been a significant increase in credit risk the Group will measure
the loss allowance based on lifetime rather than 12-month ECL.

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the {inancial instrument at the reporting
date based on the remaining maturity of the instrument with the risk of a default occurring that was
anticipated for the remaining maturity at the current reporting date when the financial instrument was first
recoguized. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonabie and supportable, including historical expesience and forward. 'raking ir-formation that is
available withou: uaudue cost or effort, based on the Group's historical experienc~ and expert credit
assessmoent inchicing forward-locking infeir - 2n.

Modification and derecognition of financial assets

A modification of a financial asset occurs when the contractual terms governing the cash flows of a
financial asset are renegotiated or otherwise modified between initial recognition and maturity of the

financial asset.

A modification affects the amount and/or timing of the contractual cash flows either immediately or at a
future date. In addition, the introduction or adjustment of existing covenants of an existing loan would
constitute a modification even if these new or adjusted covenants do not yet affect the cash flows
immediately but may affect the cash flows depending on whether the covenant is or is not met {e.g. a
change to the increase in the interest rate that arises when covenants are breached).

When a financial asset is modified the Group assesses whether this modification results in derecogn.ition.
In accordance with the Group's policy a modification results in derecognition when it gives rse to
substantially different terms.

"The Group derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the asset's cash flows expi.re:
(including expiry arising from a modification with substantially different terms), or when the ﬁnam?lal
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are transferred to another entity.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues
to control the transferred asset, the Group recognizes its retained interest in the asset and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay.

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the
Group continues to recognize the financial asset and also recognizes a collateralized borrowing for the
proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset's carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain/loss that had been recognized
in OCI and accumulated in equity is recognized in profit or loss, with the exceptien of equity investment
designated as measured at FVTOCI, where the cumulative gain/loss previously recognized in OCI is not
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.
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On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirsty (e.g. when the Group retains an option to
repurchase part of a transferred asset), the Group allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial
asset between the part it continues to recognize under continuing involvement, and the part it no longer
recognizes on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts on the date of the transfer. The diffecence
between the carrying amount allocated to the part that is no longer recognized and the sum of the
consideration received for the part no longer recognized and any cumulative gain/loss allocated to it that
had been recognized in OCl is recognized in profit or loss. A cumulative gain/loss that had been recognized
in OClis allocated between the part that continues to be recognized and the part that is no longer recognized
on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts.

This does not apply for equity investments designated as measured at FVTOCI, as the cumulative gain/loss
previously recognized in OCI is not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.

“write-off

Loans and debt securitie- =1 wrii*=ni off when the Group has no reasonable expectations of recovering the

~41

financial asset {either in its entirety or a portion of it). This is the case when the Groug uctermisnics that the
borrower does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the

amounts subject to the write-off. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.

The Group may apply enforcement activities to financial assets written off. Recoveries resulting from the
Group's enforcement activities will result in impairment gains.

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position
Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as follows:

» for financial assets measured at amortized cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the

assets;

» for debt instruments measured at FVTOCI: no loss allowance is recognized in the consolidated
statement of financial position as the carrying amount is at fair value. However, the loss allowance is
included as part of the revaluation amount in the investments' revaluation reserve;

e for loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: as a provision; and

s where a financial instrument includes both a drawn and an undrawn component, and the Group cannot
identify the ECL on the [oan commitment component separately from those on the drawn component:
the Group presents a combined loss allowance for both components. The combined amount is
presented as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the drawn component. Any excess of the
loss allowance over the gross amount of the drawn component is presented as a provision.

F. Equity and Financial Liabilities
Debt and equity instruments that are issued are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residuval interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognized at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.
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Repurchase of the Group's own equity instruments is 1ecognized and deducted directly in equity. No gain
or loss is recognized in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue, or cancellation cf the Group's own equity

instruments.

Financial lizbilities:

A financial liability is a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset or io exchange
financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially unfavorabie
to the Group or a contract that will or may be settled in the Group’s own eguity instruments and is a non-
derivative contract for which the Group is or may be obliged to deliver a variable number of its own equity
instruments, or a derivative contract over own equity that will or may be settled other than by the exchan‘ge
of a fixed amount of cash (or another financial asset) for a fixed number of the Group’s own equity

instruments. e e e
Financial liaviiitiss are classified as either nnancial labilities “at FVTPL” or “other financia! liabilities”.

Finarciai liabiiines at FVIPL
Financial liabilities are classified as at FYTPL when the financial liability is (i) held for trading, or (11) it
is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:
» it has been incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; or
e  oninitial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages

together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or
¢ itisaderivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon
initial recognition if:
e such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recogrition inconsistency
that would otherwise arise; or
» the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which
is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group's
documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or
® it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and the entire hybrid
(combined) contract fo be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains/losses arising on remeasurement
recognized in profit or loss to the extent that they are not part of a designated hedging relationship.

The net gain/ioss recognized in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability and is
included in the ‘net income from other financial instruments at FVTPL’ line item in the profit or loss account.

However, for non-derivative financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the amount of change in
the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is
recognized in OCI, unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in OCI would
create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. The remaining amount of change in the fair value
of liability is recognized in profit or loss.
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Changes in fair value attriLutable to a financial liability’s credit risk that are recogn}zed in OCI are not
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss; instead, they are transferred to retained earnings wpon

derecognition of the financial lability.

For issued loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts that are designated as at FY TPL all gains and
losses are recognized in profit or foss.

In making the determination of whether recognizing changes in the liability’s credit risk in OCI will create or
enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss, the Group assesses whether it expects that the effects of
changes in the Hability’s credit risk will be offset in profit or loss by a change in the fair value of another
financial instrument measured at FVTPL. This determination is made at initial recognition.

Other financial liabilities

. - . . . T U £ola -
Other financial liabiucs, mchuding deposits and borrewings, are initially measi -+ at fu's value, ﬂef.Of
transaction costs. Other finaucial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective

mterest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial ligbility and of
allocating interest expense overthe relevant period. The EIR is the rate that exactly digcounts estlmated_future
cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a s'honer perioq, tg
the net carrying amount on initial recognition. For details on EIR see the “net interest income section

above.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognizes financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelied or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognized
and the consideration paid and payabie is recognized in profit or loss.

When the Group exchanges with the existing lender one debt instrument into another one wi?h sgbs_ta_nﬂally
different terms, such exchange is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original ﬁn_anmal I%abxllt_y and
the recognition of a new financial liability. Similarly, the Group accounts for substang:al r.no§h'ficatlon of
terms of an existing liability or part of it as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the

recognition of a new liability. ]
[t is assumed that the terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows

vnder the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted ugin_g the original
effective rate is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows

of the original financial liability.

G. Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are set-off and the net amount is presented in the consolidated statement of

financial position when, and only when, the Group has a currently enforceabie legal right o set-off the
recogaized amounts or intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability

simultaneously.

H. Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives, such as foreign exchange forward contracts, interest rate swaps, cross currency interest rafe
swaps and credit default swaps, are initially recognized at fair value at the date a denvgtwe goptract 18
entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at each statement of financial position date.
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The resulting gain/loss is recognized in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated arnd
eifective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on
the nature of the hedge relationship. The Group designates certain derivatives «s either hedges of the fair
value of recognized assets or liabilities or firm commitments (fair value hedges), hedges of highly probable
forecast transactions or hedges of foreipn currency risk of firm commitments (cash flow hedges), or hedges
of net investments in foreign operations (net investment hedges).

A derlvative with a positive fair value is recognized as a financial asset whereas a derivative with a negative
fair value is recognized as a financial liability.

Embedded Derivatives

Derivatives embedded in financial liabilities or other non-financial asset host contracts are treated as
separate derivatives when their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts

and the host contracts ave not meassired at FVTPL.

i, Firsncial puarantee contraces

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs becanse a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance
with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are initially measured at their fair values and, if not
designated as at FVTPL and not arising from a transfer of a financial asset, are subsequently measured at
the higher of:

* The amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with [FRS 9; and
¢ The amount initially recognized less, where appropriate, cumulative amount of income recognized
in accordance with the Group's revenue recognition policies.

Financial guarantee contracts not designated at FVTPL are presented as provisions on the statement of
financial position and the remeasurement is presented in other revenue.

The Group has not designated any financial guarantee contracts as at FVTPL.

J. Hedge accounting

The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments in respect of foreign currency risk and
interest rate risk in fair value hedges, cash flow hedges, or hedges of net investments in foreign operations
as appropriate. Hedges of foreign exchange risk on firm commitments are accounted for as cash flow
kedges. The Group does 1ot apply fair value hedge accounting of portfolio hedges of interest rate risk. In
addition, the Group does not use the exemption to continue using IAS 39 hedge accounting rules, i.e. the
Group applies IFRS 9 hedge accounting rules in full.

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group documents the relationship between the hedging
instrument and the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking
various hedge transactions.
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Surthermore, at the inception of the hedge and cn an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether the
hedging instrument is effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item
attributable to the hedged risk, which is when the hedging relationships meet all of the following hedge

effectiveness requirements:

e there is an economic relaticnship between the hedged item and the heaging instrument;

e the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic
relationship; and

¢ the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the
hedged item that the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the
Group actually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item.

" The Group rebalances a hedging relationship in order i comply with the hedge r«tio requirements whes
NECEssal y. wu such cuses discentinuation may apply to only part ¢f the hedging relationship.

For example, the hedge ratio might be adjusted in such a way that some of the volume of the hedged item
1s no longer part of a hedging relationship, hence hedge accounting is discontinued only for the volume of
the hedged item that is no longer part of the hedging relationship.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio but
the risk management objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, the Group
adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship (i.e. rebalances the hedge} so that it meets the qualifying
criteria again.

In some hedge relationships the Group designates only the intrinsic value of options. In this case the fair
value change of the time value component of the option contract is deferred in OCI, over the term of the
hedge, to the extent that it relates to the hedged item and is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when
the hedged item does not result in the recognition of a non-financial item.

The Group's risk management policy does not include hedges of items that result in the recognition of non-
financial items, because the Group's risk exposures relate to financial items only.

The hedged items designated by the Group are time-period related hedged items, which means that-the
amount of the original time value of the option that relates to the hedged item is amortized from equity to
profit or loss on a rational basis (e.g. straight-line) over the term of the hedging relationship.

In some hedge relationships the Group excludes from the designation the forward element of forward
contracts, or the currency basis spread of cross currency hedging instruments.

In this case a similar treatment is applied to the one applied for the time value of options. The treatment
for the forward element of a forward and the currency basis element is optional, and the option is applied
on a hedge-by-hedge basis, unlike the treatment for the time value of the options which is mandatory.

For hedge relationships with forwards or foreign currency derivatives such as cross currency interest rate
swaps, where the forward element or the currency basis spread is excluded from the designation the Group

generally recognizes the excluded element in OCI.
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Fair value hedges
The fair value change on qualifying hedging instruments is recognized in profit or loss except when the
hedging instrument hedges an eauity instiument designated at FVTOCI in which case it is recognized in

OCL

The carrying amount of a hedged item not already measured at fair value is adjusted for the fair value
change attributable to the hedged risk with a corresponding entry in profit or loss.

For debt instruments measured at FVTQCI, the carrying amount is not adjusted as it is already at fair value,
but the part of the fair value gain or loss on the hedged item associated with the hedged risk is recognized
in profit or loss instead of OCI. When the hedged item is an equity instrument designated at FVTOCI, the
hedging gain/loss remains in OCI to match that of the hedging instrument.

where hedging gainsflosses are recognized in profit o In*  they sre recognized in the sarce line as the

aeaged iten.

- The Group discontinues hedge accounting only when the hedging relationship (or a part thereof) ceases to
meet the qualifying criteria (after rebalancing, if applicable). This includes instances when the hedging
instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised. The discontinuation is accounted for prospectively.
The fair value adjustment to the carrying amount of hedged items for which the EIR method is used (i.c.
debt instruments measured at amortized cost or at FVTOCI) arising from the hedged risk is amortized to
profit or loss commencing no later than the date when hedge accounting is discontinued,

Cash flow hedpes
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives and other qualifying hedging instruments

that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognized in the cash flow hedging reserve, a
consolidated component of OCI, limited to the cumulative change in fair value of the hedged item from
inception of the hedge Jess any amounts recycled to profit or loss.

Amounts previously recognized in OCI and accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the
periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss, in the same line as the recognized hedged item. If the
Group no longer expects the transaction to occur that amount is immediately reclassified to profit or loss.

The Group discontinues hedge accounting only when the hedging relationship (nr a part thereof) ceases to
meet the qualifying criteria (after rebalancing, if applicable). This includes instances when the hedging
instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or where the occusrence of the designated hedged
forecast transaction is no longer considered to be highly probable. The discontinuation is accounted for

prospectively.

Any gain/loss recognized in OCI and accumulated in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognized
when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognized in profit or loss.

When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gain/loss accumulated in equity is
reclassified and recognized immediately in profit or loss.
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Hedges of net investments in foreign operations

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. Any
gain/loss on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognized in OCI and
accumulated in the foreign currency transiation reserve.

Gains and losses on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge accurnulated in
the foreign currency translation reserve are reclassified to profit or loss in the same way as exchange

differences relating to the foreign operation.

K. Property and equipment

Property and equipment except for owned properties are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation gnd
imeatmmert 'oss, if any. Owned properties ~re stated at their revalued amounts, based on market prices
prevailing during 2023 and 2024 less accumulated depreciatic:: ... inupasrment loss, if any.

Depreciation is recognized so as to +:1... off the cost or valuation of property and equipment, O;he;- ‘fjnan
land and advance payments on capital expenditures less their residual values, if any, using the strajigat-iine
method over the estimated useful lives using the following rates:

%
Buildings 2-4
Office improvements and installations 20
Fumiture, equipment and machines 8-20
Computer equipment 20-33
Vehicles 10-20

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property and equipment is dete{mim?d
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in
profit or loss.

L. Intangible assets

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less
accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets other than goodwiil
are amortized on a straight line over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Computer software 5 years
Key morey 15 years

Subsequent expenditure on software assets is capitalized only when it increases the future economic
benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is expensed as incurred.
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M. Leases

The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Grogp
recognizes a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all Iease arrangements in
which it 1s the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as [eases with a lease term of 12 menths or Igss)
and Jeases of low value assets. For these Jeases, the Group recognizes the lease payments as an operating
€xpense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at t_he
commencement date, discounted by nsing the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be rzadily
determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing raic.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

e fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate
at the commencement date;

s the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees; .

¢ the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options;
and «

» payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option

to terminate the lease

The lease liability is presented as a separate line item in the statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the
lease liability (using effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-

use asset) whenever: )
e the lease term has changed or there is .« change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option,

in which case the lease lability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate.

e the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected paymfant
under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due
to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revise discount rate is used). '

© alease contract is modified, and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate If:asf:T in
which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using

revised discount rate,

The right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the
underlying asset.

Ifa lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use of asset reflects that the
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Group expects 10 exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over tle useful

life of the underlying assct. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.
Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease

liability ard the right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognized as an expense in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers those payments occurs ard are included in the line 'General and

administrative expenses' in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

N. Assets acguired in satisfaction of loans

Real estate properties acquired through the enforcement of collateral over loans and advances, in
accordance with the Central Bank of Lebanon main circular 78, are measured at the lower of their carrying
amount at fair value less cost to self.

Tue acquisition of such asses .. segul2tzd by the local banking anthorities that require th-: .. uidatics of
these assets within 2 years from Ranking Control Commission appreval date. In case of default of
uquidation, the regulatory authorities require an appropriation of a special reserve from the yearly profits
reflected in equity.

Upon sale of repossessed assets, any gain or loss realized is recognized as a separate line item in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Gains resulting from the sale of repossessed assets are transferred
to reserves to be used for capital increase starting in the following financial year.

0. Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting peried, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets,
other than investment properties and deferred taxes, to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to

sell and value in use.

[f the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount

of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. _
An impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a

revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impair.ent loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the a:set (cash-generating unit)
15 increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that woulc have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognized for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

P. Provision for employees' end-of-service indemunity
The provision for staff termination indemnities is based on the liability that would arise if the employment
of all the staff were voluntary terminated at the reporting date.
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This provision is calculated in accordance with the directives of the Lebanese Social Security Fund (the
'Fund'} and Labor laws based on the number of years of service multiplied by the monthly average o‘f the
last 12 months' remunerations and less contributions paid to the Lebanese Social Secvrity National Fund

and interest accrued by the Fand.

Q. Provisions

Provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Group has 2 present legal or constructive
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation. Provisions are discounted where the impact is matenal.

S. Deferred restricted contributions
Restricted contrivizt” - -z derived from special and nen-conventional deals armrany:

regulator are defrrizd until designated condit® s for wzvognition are mei. '
At the time income is received it is deferred under "regulatory deferred liability" and applied to the

designated purpose according to the regulator's requirements.

~at coneluded with the

T. Net Interest income

Interest income and expense for all financial instruments except for those classified as held for trading or
those measured or designated as at FVTPL are recognized in 'Net interest income’ as 'Interest income’ apd
'Interest expense' in the profit or loss account using the effective interest method. Interest on financial
instruments measured as at FYTPL is included within the fair value movement during the period, see 'Net
interest and other gain on investment securities at fair value through profit or loss.

The effective interest rate (EIR) is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flows of the
financial instrument through the expected life of the financial instrument or, where appropriaie, a shorier
period, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. The future cash flows are
estimated taking into account al] the contractual terms of the instrument.

The calculation of the EIR includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are
incremental and directly attributable to the specific lending arrangement, transaction costs, and all other
premiums or discounts. For financial assets at FVTPL transaction costs are recognized in profit or loss at
initial recognition.

The interest income/ interest expense is calculated by applying the EIR to the gross carrying amount of
noncredit impaired financial assets (i.c. at the amortized cost of the firancial asset before adjusting for any
expectea credit loss allowance), or to the amortized cost of financial liabilities.

U, Net fee and commission income
Fee and commission income and expense that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset
or liability (e.g. commissions and fees earned on loans) are included under interest income and expense.

Other fee and commission income are recognized as the related services are performed.

V. Bividend income

Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive payment is established. Dividends on equity
instruments designated as at fair value through other comprehensive income are recognized in profit or
loss, unless the dividend clearly represents a recavery of part of the investment, in which case it is presented
in other comprehensive income.
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W. Income tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. Income tax is
recoonized in the statement of profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly
in other comprehensive income, in which case it is recognized in other comprehensive income.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year, Taxable profit differs from profit as
reported in the statement of profit or loss because of the items that are never taxable or deductible.

The Group's liability for current tax is caleulated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively

enacted by the end of the reporting period. .
Deferred tax is recognized on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
statement of financial position and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable profit.

Deferrea tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxavle tewporary differences and deferred tax
assets are recognized ‘"= exte.t that it is probable tha: taxable profits will be av-i'nle aguinst which
deductible temporary differences can be utilized.

X. Fidueiary accounts

Fiduciary assets held or invested on behalf of the Group's customers on a non-discretionary basis and
related risks and rewards belong to the account holders. Accordingly, these deposits are reflected as off-
balance sheet accounts.

Y. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with original contractual maturities of three months or less.

4. Critical accounting indgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, the directors are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the reported amounts of revenues, expenses,
assets and liabilities and the accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period or in the penod of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future

periods.

A. Critical accounting judgments in appiving the Group's accounting policies:

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (which are dealt with
separately below), that the directors have made in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies
and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in financial statements:

Going Concem:

Notwithstauding the uncertainties resulting from the events and conditions disclosed under Note 1, these
financial statements have been prepared based on the going concern assumption which assumes that the
Group will have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
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The Board of Directors are monitoring the situation and believe that they are taking all possible atiaipable
measures under these circunistances to maintain the viability of the Group and continue operations in the

current business environment.

Deferred tax assets:

Deferred tax assets are recognized in respect of tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the losses can be utilized within the regulatory expiration period. Judgment is
required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing
and level of future taxable profits. When assessing if it is probable that future taxable profits will be available,
management considers all available evidence, both negative and positive.

Business mode} assessment:

Class:” itior and measurement of finaicial assets depends on me results of the SPPI and the business
model test (Refer to the financial assets sections of note 3). The Group determines the business model at a
level that reflects how groups of financial assets are managed together to achieve a particular business
objective.

This assessment includes judgement reflecting all relevant evidence including how the performance of the
assets is evaluated and their performance measured, the risks that affect the performance of the assets and
how these are managed. The Group monitors financial assets measured at amortized cost or fair value
through other comprehensive income that are derecognized prior to their maturity to understand the reason
for their disposal and whether the reasons are consistent with the objective of the business for which the

asset was held.

Monitoring is part of the Group's continuous assessment of whether the business model for which the
remaimung f{inancial assets are held continues to be appropriate and if it is not appropriate whether there
has been a change in business model and so a prospective change to the classification of those assets.

Significant increase of credit rsk;

As explained in note 3, ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or
lifetime ECL assets for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset mnoves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increasc?d
significantly since initial recognition. IFRS 9 does not define what constitutes a significan® increase in
credit risk. In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset has significanily increased the Group takes into
account qualitative and quantitative reasonable and suppo table forward-looking information. Refer to note
3 and aote 38 for more details.

Establishing groups of assets with similar credit risk characteristics:

When ECLs are measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped on the basis of shared
risk characteristics. Refer to note 3 for details of the characteristics considered in this judgement. The
Group monitors the appropriateness of the credit risk characteristics on an ongoing basis to assess whether
they continue to be similar.

This may result in new portfolios being created or assets moving to an existing portfolio that better reflects
the similar credit risk characteristics of that group of assets.
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Re- segmentation of portfolios and movement between portfolios is more common when there is a significant
increase in credit risk (or when that significant increase reverses) and so assets move from [2-month to
lifetime ECLs, or vice versz, bu? it can also occur within portfolios that continue to be mensured on the same
basis of 12-month or lifetime ECLs but the amount of ECL changes because the credit risk of the portfolios

differ,

Models and agsumptions used:

The Group uses various models and assumptions in estimating ECL. Judgement is applied in identifying
the most appropriate model for each typs of asset, as well as for determining the assumptions used in these
models, including assumptions that relate to key drivers of credit risk. See note 3 and note 38 for more
details on ECL.

B, Key Sources o osamation Uncer tainty:

The following are key estimations that the ¢'->~tors i-ive used in the process ol applying the Group's
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in financial
statements:

Macroeconomic Factors and Forward-Looking Information;

The measurement of expected credit losses for each stage and the assessment of significant increases in
credit risk must consider information about past events and current conditions as well as reasonable and
supportable forecasts of future events and economic conditions. The estimation and application of forward-

looking information will require significant judgment.

Probability of default (PD):
PD constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. PD is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given
time horizon, the calculation of which includes historical data, assumptions and expectations of future

conditions.

Loss Given default (LGD):

LGD is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash
flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, taking into account cash flows from collateral
and integral credit enhancements.

Revaluation of owned properties and assets acquired in satisfaction of foans:

The Bank carries its owned properties and assets acquired in satisfactior. of [oans a fair value, with changes
in fair value being recognized in cther comprehensive income. These are valued by reference to rparket—
based evidence, using comparable prices adjusted for specific market factors such as nature, location and
condition of the property. The Bank engaged an independent valuation speciatist to assess fair values for
these assets,
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5. Cash and balances with the Ceniral Bank of Lebanon

December 21,

2024 2023
of which of which
compulsary/ compulsory/
Regulatory Regulatory
Balance Deposits Balance Deposits
LBP000 LBP'00C LBP 000 LBP*000
Cash on hand 1,690,823,540 - 143,414,722 -
Central Bank of Lebancen : .
Curremt accounis 75.168.330.366 291,208,591 - 11,672,506,589 215,64¢,i42
Terun piacements 42,888,491,410  22,293,952.380 8,278,506,058 3.735,90%.400
Arconed interest recervable o 12R.G78.402 - 51,297,638 -
119,876,343,718  22,585,160,971 20,135,825,007 3,951,554,542
ﬁgg:;agzéo;;m ected oredit 1 118,448,337 : (166,310,441) '
118,757,895,381 22,585,160,971 19,969,514,566 3,951,554,542

1) Compulsory deposits under current accounts with the Central Bank of Lebanon are in Lebanese Pounds
and non-interest eaming. These deposits are computed on the basis of 25% and 15% of the average weekly
sight and term customers' deposits in Lebanese Pounds subject to certain exemptions, in accordance with
local banking regulations. These deposits are not available for use in the Bank's day-to-day operations.

Regulatory deposits under term placements with the Central Bank of Lebanon are placed in accordance
with local banking regulations which require banks to maintain interest earning placements in foreign
currency to the extent of 14% of total customers' deposits in foreign currencies regardless of nature.

it} During 2019, the Group and the Central Bank of Lebanon signed a netting agreement for specified
financial assets and liabilities that qualify for netting under the requirements of IAS 32. Accordingly, as at
31 December 2023, time deposits with the Central Bank of Lebanon amounting to LBP 128 billion and
term bomowings from the Central Bank of Lebanon ‘notes 10, 18) are reported on a net basis in the
consolidated statement of financial position,
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6. Deposits with banks and financial institutions

December 31,
2024 2023
LBP 060 LBF000
Current accounts with banks and financial institutions 2,709,792,219 267,849,888
Current accounts with the Parent Bank (Note 42) 176,455,293 35,067,939
Current accounts with related bank (Note 42) 23,931,121 4,156,182
Term placements with banks and financial mstitutions 25,000,000 16,885,135
Purchased checks 10,937,288 46,085
Accrued interest receivable 102,041 21,013
2,946.217,662 124,026,242
Allowance for expected credit losses (Note 38) (8,255,430) (1,158,519)
‘ ~,037.6::2,532 322,867,772
Above balances are allocated between onshore and offshore accounts as follows:
December 31,
2024 2023
LBP000 LBP’000
Onshore 172,175,433 37,079,811
Offshore 2,774,042,529 286,946,431
2,946,217 .962 324,026,242
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7. Loans and advances to custemers

Loans and advances {0 customers at amortized cost consist of the following:

Credit risk stage 1 & 2:
Retail loans:
Housing loans
Personal loans
Car loans
Credit cards
Educatjon loans
Staff loans
Private Barking
Small and medium enterprises
Cormporates

Credit risk stage 3:
Substandard
Doubtful

Bad

Accrued interest receivable

December 31, 2024

Gross Amount

Allowance for

(Mef of . Carrying
Unrealized Expeeted Credit Amount
Losses
Interest)

LBP*800 LBP000 LBPG06
215,245,529 (6,123,594 709,116,839
4,079,214 (340,995 53,738,419
41,756 (35,800) 5,956
13,522,031 {395,590) 13,126,441
612,246 (45,645) 566,601
2,511 - 2,511
609,652 - 609,652

422,598,981
1,276,874,24]

(7,414,180)
(101,411,892)

415,184,601
1,175,462,349

1,983,581,261

630,163,976
5,156,496,258
4,807,728,017

{115,767,692)

1,867,813,569

(38,633,570)
(2,008,012,726)
(4,807,728,017)

591,530,406
3,148,483,532

10,594,388,251

(6,854,374,313)

3,740,013.938

12,577,969,512
29,072,623

(6,970,142,005)

5,607,827,507
29,072,623

12,607,042,135

(6,970,142,005)

5.636,900,130
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Credit risk stage 1 & 2:
Retail loans:
Housing loans
Perscnal loans
Car loans
Credit cards
Edw: " alcans
Staff loans
Private Banking
Small and meduim enterprises
Corporates

Credit risk stage 3:
Substandard

Doubtful
Bad

Accrued interest receivable

Deceraber 31 2023

Groess Ameunt

Allowance for

{Net of . Carry.ng
Unrealized Expected Credit Amount
Losscs
Interest)

LBP00O LBP 000 LBP000
170,296,014 {(2,681,398) 167,614,616
12,669,951 (818,250} 11,851,701
1,908,003 (481,500) 1,426,503
7,146,095 (395,400) 6,750,695
1,132,553 (56,700 1,075,853
1,582,283 - 1,582,283
1,540,483 - 1,545,283
180,238,710 (9,239,850} 170,998,860
612,293,273 (25,741,650) 586,551,623
038,807,365 {39,414,748) 949,392,617

346,498,233
1,056,749,162
441,229,520

(1,278,498)
(538,890,450)
(441,208,950

345,219,735
517,858,712
20,570

1,844,476 915

{981,377,898)

863,099,017

2,833,284,280
21,520,336

(1,020,792,646)

1,812,491,634
21,520,336

2,854,804,616

(1,020,792,646)

1,834,011,970

The above balances include loans to related parties of LBP 647 million (2023: LBP 499 million) (Note

42).
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8. Investment securities

At fair value
through other
comprehensive
income

Accrued interest
receivable

At amortized cos:
Accrued interest
receivable

December 31,

Unquoted equities
Lebanese
government bonds
[ebanese treasury
bills

Accrued interest
receivable
Allowance for
expected credit
lesses (Note 38)

2024 2623
Foreign Local Foreign
Local Currency Currencies Toisgl Currency Currencies Total
LBP’000 LBP’009 LBP'G30 LBP'0GO LBP’000 LEP?000
19,309,169 169,272,929 188,582,098 11,393,990 24,605,766 35,999,756
- - 21,268 - 21,268
309,169 169,272,922 128,202,098 _ 11415258 271,605,766 36,02i,025
716,.-0,428 26.412,589,790 2!128,930,218 733,806,44¢ 5.543.410,681 6,277,047,129
23,637,780 11,437,033 315,074,813 22,077,651 4,056,391 26,134,042
739,978,208 26,424,026,823 27,164,005,031 755,884,099 5,547,297.072 6,363,181,171
739,287,377 26,593,299.752 27,352,587,128 767,299,357 5,571,902,838 6,339,202,195
A, Investimment securities at fair value through other comprehensive income:
December 31,
2024 2023
Local Foreign Local Fereign
Currency Currencies Total Currency Currencies Tota)
LEBF000 LBP* 00D LBP600 LBPG0D LEBP000 LBP'00O
19,309,169 49,231,949 68,541,118 10,319,169 8,281,641 t8,600,810
- 895,000,000 895,000,000 - 249,759,225 249,759,225
- B - 1,074,821 - 1,074,821
19,309,169 944231949 963,541,118 11,393,990 258,040,866 269,434,856
- - - 21,268 - 21,268
- (774,959,020) (774,959,020) - (233,435,100)  (33,435,100)
19,309,169 169272929 188,582,098 11415258 24605766 36,021,024
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Debt securities at amortized cost are segregated over the remaining period to maturity as follows:

Local Cwrrency

December 31, 2024

Foreign Currencies

Average
Remaining Period to Nominal Amortized  Coupon Nominal Amortized
Maturity Vahe Cost rate Value Cost
LBP'000 LBP'00 % BP0 LBP'00
Lebanese treasury bills:
Up 1o one year 28,585,610 28,810,247 82
t yearto 3 vearg 26,791,590 75,791,590 15 -
3 years to 3 years 27,405,390 27,405.39¢ 7.5 - -
5 years to 10 venrs 15,124,427 13,407,841 10.5 =
97,907,080 98,409,068 L - -
Lebanese govermment bonds:
Past due (defaulted) - - - 2,416,500,000 2,416,500,000
Up to one year {defaulted) 5,972,782,500 5,972,782,500
lyear to 3 years {defaulied) - - - 7,011,698,500 7,011,698,500
3 years to 5 years (defaulted) - - 1,599,723,000 1,599,723,000
5 years to 10 years (defaulted) - - - 4,556,892,500 4,556,892,500
Above 10 years (defaulted) - - - 9,965,825,000 9,965,825,000
. - 31,523,421,500  31,523,421,500
Certificates of deposit issued
by Central Bank of Lebanon:
1 year to 3 years 2,685,000,000 2,685,000,000
3 years to 5 years - - 6,094,950,000 6,094,950,000
5 years to 10 vears 3,000,000 3,000,000 10.0 - -
Above 10 years 607,000,000 614,931,360 11.¢ - -
K 8,779,950,000 8,779,9530,000

616,000,000 617,931,360

54

Average
Counpon
rate
Yo

2.0
2.0



BLU BANBK ».A.L

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2024

December 31, 2023
Loeal Carrency _ Foreign Currencies
Average Average
Remaining Period to Nominzl Amortized  {oupon M ooainal Amortized Coupon
M aturity Value Cost rate Yalue Cost rate
LEP'00Y LBPOOC % LBP'GGH LBP'ON Yo
Lebanese treasury bills:
Up to one year 17,073,410 17,073,410 7.1
1 year to 3 years 20,819,020 21,350,274 8.69 - - -
3 years to 5 years 61,963,570 61,963,570 7.46 - -
5 years to [0 years 15,124,490 15,419,804 10.5 - -
114,930,490 115,807,058 -
Lebanese gevernmer ... ais:
Past due (defauked) - = 1,128,885,000 1,128,885,000 -
Up to one year (defaulted) 105,000,000 105,907,152 -
I year to 3 years (defaulted} - - - 2,148,045,000 2,149,146,798 -
3 years to 5 years (defaulied) - - - 566,235,000 567,008,370 -
5 years to 10 years (defaviied) - - - 1,243,725,000 1,243,692,354 -
Above 10 years (defauited - - - 2,195,250,000 2,196,535,874 -
- 7,387,140,008 7,391,175,588
Certificates of deposit issued
by Central Bank of Lebanon:
Up to one year - - 225,000,000 225,000,000 30
3 years to 5 years - - - 1,050,000,000 1,050,000,000 337
5 years to 10 years 3,000,000 3,000,000 10.0 423,500,000 421,500,000 3143
Above 10 years 607,600,000 614,999,390 11.0 - - -
610,000,000 617,999,390 1,696,500,000 1,696,500,000

No intzrest income on defaulted Lebanese government bonds is being recognized by the Group for both

years 2024 and 2023,
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9. Investment securities at fair value through profit or loss:

December 31, .

2024 2023
Local Foreign Total Local Foreigl? Total

Currency Curreacies Currency Currencies

LBP*000 LBP*000 LEBP'00C LBP*000 LBP*000 LEP'060
Quoted equities 3,510,000 3,956,663,972 3,960,173,972 2,100,000 511,172,195 513,272,195
Urquoted equities 3,602,656 134,743,212 138,345,368 3,659,965 26,521,967 30,181,932
Lebanese
government - 2,345,429,96% 2,345,429,969 - 140,326,627 140,326,627
bonds
Mutual Funds - 20,137,500 20,137,500 - 3,375,000 3,375,000

7,112,656 Gase 653 6,464,087,300 5,754.90)5 681,395,786 687 .. 754

" Jucted equities mainly represcui the Group's share wm siartups established based on co-sharing
agreement with the regulator providing the funding.

10. Assets under leverage arrangement with the Central Bank of Lebanon

Assets under leverage arrangement consist of term placements with the Central Bank of Lebanon subject
to interest rates between 1.26% and 10.66% originated from and are pledged against the corresponding
leverage arrangements with the Central Bank of Lebanon for the same amounts in LBP (bearing a 2%
interest rate), with the purpose of providing yield adjustment on certain transactions related to either fresh
deposits in foreign currency or sale of foreign currency against LBP placed in term deposits at the Central
Bank of Lebanon and/or Government securities.

During 2019, the Group and the Central Bank of Lebanon signed a netting agreement covering only
leverage arrangements that were invested in blocked term placement and pledged certificates of deposit
with the Central Bank of Lebanon in LBP. This agreement qualifies for netting under the requirements of
IAS 32.

2024 2023
LBP?000 LBP’0GO
Gross amount 61,461,266 203,119,980
Offset against placements with the Central Bank* (Note 5) - (128,067,000)
Net amounts reported on the consolidated statement ¢f finencial .
61,461,266 75,052,980

position (Note 18)

*Represents amounts that can be offset under IAS 32. Placements with the Central Bank of Lebanon have
alsc been reported in the consolidated statement of financial position net of the above amounts.

The leverage and related pledged assets mechanism resulted in a yield enhancement on the following
financial assets:
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December 31,
2024 2023
LBP’600 LBP'OO0
615,750,000

Term piacements with the Central Bank of Leba~on in U.S.Dollar 2,599,975,000
Term placements with the Central Bank of Lebanon in Euro 1,216,991,730 217,382,731
Term placements with the Central Bank of Lebanon in LBP

ongnated from the sale of foreign currency 212,865,042 P15

7,089,831,772 388,889,683

The Group signed with the Central Bank of Lebanon a netting agreca:vat allow ing 1o offsei the "assciz
1{ndcr leverage arrangement” versus the borrowing from the Central Bank. The agreement covered
financial assets and liabilities resulting o irancaciions that took place betars the netting agreement © -
that have not yet matured. As such the Bank has presented “time deposits with the Central Bank of

Lebanon" and term borrowing from the Central Bank of Lebanon" on a net basis.
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11, Assets acquirer in satisfaction of loans

The acquisition of assets in scttlement of loans is regulated by the banking regulatory authorities and these
should be tquidated within 2 years from the date of approval of the Banl-ing Control Commission. In case
of default of liquidation, a regulatory reserve should be appropriated from the yearly net profits (Note 24).

Following the enactment of Law No. 330 dated December 4, 2024, the Bank has revalued its assets
acquired in satisfaction of loans during 2024. The Bank has adjusted the carrying value of those assets by
applying currency adjustment factors to the resulting revalued amount with a retrospective effect from
2023 opening balances and therefore has adjusted the corresponding comparative figures. This revalvation
remains subject to the approval of the regulatory authorities.

The resulting revaluation surplus is exempt from taxation subject to certain conditions.

The 1uvaluation surplus as at January 1, 2023, converted at the 1aic of LED 42,000/USD, was recogaized
as ail adjustment to 2027 ~eniyy, balances (LBP 3,189 hillicn). The remaining ami e 2sultivg from the
conversion of this surplus at the rate of LBP 89,500/USD was recognized in the statement of other
comprehensive income for the year 2023 under “gain on revaluation of assets acquired in satisfaction of
loans™ (LBP 3,683 billion).

The movement of assets acquired in satisfaction of loans during 2024 and 2023 in addition to the effect of
restating its carrying value is summarized as follows:

Carrying Value
LEP'000
Balance December 31, 2022 before adjustment 61,534,981
Effect of revaluation 3,189,108,647
Balance December 31, 2022 after adjustment 3,250,643,628
Effect of revaluation 3,683,443.313
Balance December 31, 2623 6,934,086,941
Disposals {368,277)
Balance December 31, 2024 6,933,718,664

Gain on disposal of assets acquired in satisfaction of loans during 2024 amounted to LBP 37.8 billion
recorded in the statement of profit or loss.
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12. Leasas

The Group only operates as a lessee for the Group's branches. The average lease term is 7 years.
Set out below, are the carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets and lease liabilities and their

related movement during 2024 and 2023:

Balance January 1, 2023

Effect of difference of exchange
Terminatior: o lease contracts
Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Ao oL 0y nterest expense (Note 273

Payments

Balance December 31, 2023

Effect of difference of exchange
Termination of lease contracts
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Accretion of interest expense (Note 27)
Payments

Balance December 31, 2024

The following are the amounts recognized in profit or loss during the year:

Amortization of right-of-use assets

Interest portion of lease liabilities (Note 27)
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Right-of-use Lease
assets liabilities
LBP’000 LBP’000
6,057,203 7,127,008
- 33,170,721
£2,887,278) {11,282.236)
(1,110,405) -
- 4,140,217
- (8,823,080)
2,059,520 24,332,630
- 126,913,760
(680,649) (49,484,079)
(388,744) -
- 5,371,410
- (33,475,787)
990,127 73,657,834
2024 2023
LBP'00D LBP000
388,744 1,110,405
5,371,410 4,140,217
5,760,154 5,250,622
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13. Proeperty and equipment

Revaluation of owned properties

The Bank received the approva! of the Central Bank of Lebanon on the revaluation of its real estate
properties on 13/02/2025. The fair value of those properties was determined by an external independent
appraiser using the market comparable method based on prices of transactions for properties of similar
nature, location and condition.

In accordance with Law No. 330 dated December 4, 2024, the Bank has adjusted the carrying value of
those real estate properties by applying currency adjustment factors to the resulting revalued amount with
a retrospective effect from 2023 opening balances and therefore has adjusted the corresponding
comparative figures. This revaluation remains subject to the approval of the regulatory authorities. The
resulting revaluation surplus is exempt from taxation subject to certain conditions.

Equiprient

n accordance with law ™o, 330 dated December 4, 2024, the Bank has adjusted the carrying value of the
remaining items under property and equipment by applying currency adjustment factors to the net book
value with a retrospective effect from 2023 opening balances and therefore has adjusted the corresponding
comparative figures. The resulting revaluation surplus is still subject to the regulatory authority’s approval.,

The revaluation surplus as at January 1, 2023, converted at the rate of LBP 42,000/USD, was recognised
as an adjustment to 2023 opening balances (LBP 2,319 billion). The remaining amount resulting from the
conversion of this surplus at the rate of LBP 89,500/USD was recognised in the statement of other
comprehensive income for the year 2023 under “gain on revaluation of property and equipment {LBP 2,725
billion).

The movement of property and equipment during 2024 and 2023 in addition to the effect of the revaluation
is summarized as follows:

Balance
Balance Disposals and December 31,
Japuary 1, 2024 Additions Adjustments Transfers 2024
LBP'000 LBP'0OGO LBP'000 LBPOGO LBPOOO
Cost/Revaluation:
Owned properties 6,800,317,435 - (20,251,629} 44,473 6,780,110,279
Computer hardware 223,480,852 2,512,055 - - 225,992,907
Machine and equipment 259,603,958 68,150 (1,242) ~ 259,670,865
Furniture and fixfur: 214,892,618 144,050 (50,753) - 214,985,315
Vehicles 30,417,855 - - - 30,417,855
~ 1,528.,712,118 2,734,255 (20,303,624) 44,473  7,511,177,222
Accumutated depreciation (2,485,506,839) (91,210,976) 18,819,799 - (2,558,998,016)
Allowance for impairment {65,308) - - - {65,308)
(2,486,672,147) {91,210,978) 18,819,799 - (2,559,063,324)
Capital work-in-progress 44,473 - - (44.473) L
Carrying values 5,042,084.444 4,952,113,898
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14. Intangible assets

Balance
Balance Amortization December 3|,
January 1, 2024 Additions for the year 7024
LEBPO00 LBP'00G LBP'0GO LBP'GO0
Computer software 783,067 (485,505) 297 562
783,067 - (485,505) 297,562
, Balance
Balance Amortization Necembe 31,
Szarary 1, 2623 Additieas for the vear 2023
LBP000 LBP000 LBP'000 LBP'OOY
Computer software 1,719,184 . (936,117) 783,067
1,719,184 - (936,117) 783,067
15. Other assets
December 31,
2024 2023
LBP?000 LRP 060
Prepayments 76,025,696 25,802,605
Commission receivable 19,292,345 4,008,428
Sundry debtors (a) 261,563,215 61,730,912
Regulatory blocked deposit (b) 4,500,000 4,500,000
361,381,256 96,041,945

(a) Sundry debtors include medical costs receivable from the Lebanese National Social Security Fund
(NSSF) for the amount of LBP 35 billion (2023: LBP 20.2 billion). It represents medical expenses scitled
by the Bank on behalf of its employees subject to recuperation from the NSSE.

(b) Regulatory blocked deposit represents a non-interest earning compulsory deposit placed with the
Lebanese Treasury upon the establishment of a subsidiary that is in the process of liquidation. This deposit
will be refunded upon finalizing the liquidation of the subsidiary, according to article 132 of the Lebanese
Code of Money and Credit.

62



o) LU & V2 FA T » Wi PV YA I

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2024

16. Deposits from banks apd financial Sostitutions

Short term deposits from Parent Bank (Note 42)
Currents deposits

Short term deposits

Accrued interest payable (Note 42)

17. Customers’ accounts

Customers' accounts at amortized cost are detailed as follows:

Deposits:

Current/demand deposits

Term deposits

Collateral against loans and advances

Margins and other accounts:

Margins against import letters of credit
Margins against letters of guarantee issued
Qther marging

Blocked accounts

Accrued interest payable
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December 31,

2024 2023

LBP’O00 LBPOGD
7,596,251 12,750,000
145,222,775 17,637,102
564,097,704 10,576,894
860,821 141,960
717,877,551 41,105,956

December 31,
2024 2023
LBP000 LBPG00

58,177,173,929
96,070,424,075

10,530,393,903
17,093,595,570

811,413,280 149,607,905
9,279 9,302
1,163,131,075 206,182,035
294,421,213 25,797,032
37,426,286 15,943,638
14,381,486 6,092,770

156,568 880,523

28.027,622,155
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Customers' deposits inciude relaied party deposits detailed as follows:

December 31,
2024 2013
LEP000 LBP 000
Demand deposits 70,317,855 70,929,236
Term deposits 1,864,003,840 404,177,958
Collateral against loans and advances 29,893,000 5,035,256
Accrued interest payable 2,969,359 1,452

1,967,184,054 _

430,143,902

Oeposits irom customers include coded deposit accounts in the aggregate amount of LBP 1,334 billion as
at December 31, 2024 (2023: LBP 294 billion}. These accounts are subject to the provisions of Article 3
of the Banking Secrecy Law dated September 3, 1956 which stipulates that the Bank's management, in the
normal course of business, cannot reveal the identities of these depositors to third parties, including its

independent public accountants.

18. Borrewings from the Central Bank of Lebanon

December 31,

2024 2023
LEP'000 LBP 000
Soft loans from Central Bank of Lebanon (a) 1,903,754 4,305,974
Borrowings from Central Bank of Lebanon (b) 333,317,154 190,260,467
Borrowings frem Central Bank of Lebanon under leverage (Note 10) 61,461,266 75,052,980
Accrued interest payable 37,737 10,666
396,719,911 269,630,087

(a) Owstanding facilities granted from the Central Bank of Lebannn in the amount of LBP 1.9 billion
(I.BP 4.3 billion as at December 31, 2023) are in accordance 'vith Central Bank of Lebanon Basic
Decision No. 6116 of March 7, 1996 and its amendments by which the Bank benefited from credit
facilities granted against loans the Sank has granted, on its own responsibility, to its customers,

pursuant to certain conditions, rules and mechanism.

(b} Outstanding facilities granted from the Ceniral Bank of Lebanon in the amount of LBP 333 billion
(2023: LBP 190 billion) are in accordance with Central Bank of Lebanon Basic Decision No. 6116 of
March 7, 1996 and its amendments by which the Bank benefited from credit facilities granted against
loans the Bank has granted, on its own responsibility, to its customers, pursuant to certain conditions,
rules and mechanism. Part of these facilities are collateralized by Lebanese treasury bills which were
matured during 2022 and certificates of deposit issued by Central Bank of Lebanon (Note §).
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The remaining contractual maturities of above borrowings are as follows:

December 31,
2024 2023

LBP'O00 LEP’000
Up to 3 months ' 6,247,733 53,402,955
3 months to | year 337,923,198 17,608,063
1 year to 3 years 25,143,590 67,670,750
3 years 10 5 years 27,405,390 21,107,161
Over 5 years - 109,841,158

396,719,911 269,630,087

The movement of borrowings from the Central Bank of Lebanon during 2624 and 2023 was as follows:

2024 2023
LBP’000 LBP’000
Balance Jannary 1 269,630,087 258,030,438
Additions 18,190,257 7,061,040
Settlements (155,359,201) (58,391,473)
Effect of difference of exchange 264,258,768 62,930,082
Balance December 31 396,719,911 269,630,087
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19. Ocher Kabilities

Sundry accounts payable

Accrued expenses

Provision for tax- Article 20 of Law No. 6/2020

Provision for income tax (a)

Withheld taxes payable

Deferred tax liability on accrued interest receivable

Deferred tar Hability on future dividens ... iSution +f subsidicries
Deferred tax liability

Payable to personz... _ud dirasiors

Checks and incoming payment orders in course of settlement
Deferred income

Due to the National Social Security Fund

{a) Below is the reconciliation of income tax expense:

Loss before income tax

Less: Non-taxable revenues

Add: Non-deductible expenses
Taxable result

Income tax (17%)

Tax payable brought forward balance

Income tax payable as at December 31

The movement of current Lix liability was as follows:

Balance January 1,
Charge for the vear
Settlements

Balance December 31

December 31,

2424 2023

LEP’ 6480 LBP 050
2,215,230,369 50,331,280
115,095,985 67,877,532
- 7,409
10,197,132 7,554,123
24,646,840 16,628,044
18,113,406 6,667,186
821:864 :?-A;.‘_,QG“'I"
- 1,639,606
35,911,904 10,613,808
28,103,484 2,189,135
56,022,206 7,320,236
5,531.564 2,490,224
2,510,604,760 168,140,447

2024

2023 adjusted

LBP’0GO

(113,680,698)
(8,637,399,805)
6,019,472,178

LBP?000

(79,038,536)
(1,919,589,201)
1,433,004,647

(2,731,608,325)

{(565,623,090)

2,799,874 151,755
7,397,258 7,402,368
10,197,132 7,554,123
2024 2023
LBP'000 LBP’000
7,554,123 7,604,470
2,799,874 151,755
(156,865) (202,102)
10,197,132 7,554,123

Provision for income tax includes provision for tax contingencies in the amount of LBP 6.4 billion that

was recorded during the year 2020,
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20. Provisiops

December 31,

2024 2023
LBP*000 LBP?000
Provision for staff end-of-service indemnity (a) 209,822,852 100,338,734
Provision for risks and charges (b) 592,539,777 207,316,468
Expected credit losses on commitments and financial guarantees 4,149,550 3,793,334
Provision for loss on foreign currency position 294,042 294,042
806,806,221 311,742,578
a) The movement of the provision for staff end-of-service indemnity was as follows:
2024 2023
LBP000 LBP’0G0
Balance January 1 100,338,734 20,278 484
Additions- net (Note 32) 138,592,693 80,558,024
Write-back (1,341,247) (1,997,739)
Settlements (36,419,780) (2,264,184)
Difference of exchange 8,652,452 3,764,149
Balance December 31 209,822,852 100,338,734
b} The movement of the provision for risks and charges was as follows:
2024 2023
LBP 0G0 LBP’0G0
Balance January 1 207,316,468 36,126,382
Additions 207,514,750 162,971,524
Settlements (1,249,850) (6,103,024)
Other movement 6,490,009 -
Transfer from accruals 100,296,564 -
Difference of exchange 72,171,876 14,321,586
Balance December 31 592,539,777 207,316,463
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21. Capital
As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Group's ardinary share capital consists of 214,000,000 shares of a

par va'ue of LBP 1,000 each fully paid.
The Group followed the requirements of the Central Bank of Lebanon regarding the increase in common
equity Tier I as at December 31, 2018 by 20% in foreign currencies that was later extended to February

28, 2021. The Group's Extraordinary General Assembly of shareholders held on January 30, 2020 called
additional cash contribution from shareholders in the amount of USD 93.86 million (LBP 141.49 billion).

Up to December 31, 2020, the Group's shareholders settled USD 45.96 million (LBP 69.29 billion) in the
form of cash contribution and the remaining balance of USD 47.9 million (LBP 72.2 billion) was settled
m 2021,

iz kreferred shares

December 31,

Year Number Apnual
of Issue of Shares Return 2024 2023
Yo LBP'00D LBP000
Series "D" 2018 750,000 6.75 113,062,501 113,062,501
Series "E" 2018 263,510 7.00 39,724,132 39,724,132

152,786,633 152,786,633

The above are Tier I non-cumulative preferred shares with an issue price of USD 100 per share and a
nominal value of LBP1,000 each.

The preferred shares may be redeemed duiing the 60 days period following the annual general meeting held
to approve the Group's financial statements after S years for issue date and each subsequent year thereafter.

In the event of liquidation of the Group, holders of preferred shares series "D" and "E" rank senior to the
holders of common shares.

23. Treasury shares

Mo, of shaves Cost
1L.BP'G00
Balance January 1, 2023 21,365,000 75,882,381
Balance December 31, 2023 21,365,000 75,882,381
Balance December 31, 2024 21,365,000 75,882,381
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24. Nomn-distributable reserves

Special Reserve for

Reserve For  Reserve Assets
General for Loans acquired in
Legal Banking and Satisfaction
Reserve Risks Advances _ of Loans Total

LBP'000 LBP009 LBP'000 LBP'000 LBP'000

Balance - January 1, 2023 26,852,521 179,286,152 7,303,478 49,531,444 262,973,595
Other movement - (604,076) - - (604,076)

Balance - December 31,2023 26,852 521 178,682,076 7,303,478 49,531,444  262,369.519
Balance - December 31,2024 26,852,521 178,682,076 _ 7.303.47% 49,531,444 _ 262.3069,5i%

(a) The legal reserve is constituted in conformity with the requirements of the Lebanese Money and Credit
Law and the Bank's articles of incorporation on the basis of 10% of the yearly net profits. Subsidiaries are
also subject to legal reserve requirements. This reserve is not available for distribution.

(b) Based on the Central Bank of Lebanon Circular no. 73 and the Banking Control Commission memo
No. 12/2010 relating to reserve allocation for doubtful debts, the Bank has allocated an amount of LBP 7.3
billion for the year 2020 to special reserve for the uncovered portion of its doubtful debts outstanding as
at June 30, 2003 and not yet resolved. This reserve is not available for distribution.

(¢) The reserve for assets acquired in satisfaction of loans represents appropriation against assets acquired
in settlement of debt in accordance with the circulars of the Lebanese Banking Control Commission.
Appropriations against assets acquired in settlement of loans shall be transferred to unrestricted reserves
upon the disposal of the related assets.

25, Dividends paid

No dividends were distributed during 2024 and 2023 to ordinary and preferred shares owners.
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26. Interest income

Interest income from:

Loans and advances to customers

Deposits with the Central Bank

Investment securities (exchuding FVTPL)
Deposits with banks ana financial institutions

Loans a¢ " anves =2 related parties (Note 423

Interest income from:

Loans and advances to customers

Deposits with the Central Bank

Investment securities (excluding FVTPL)
Deposits with banks and financial institetions
Loans and advances to related parties (Note 42)

Interest income on investment securities:

Lebaness treasury bills

Certificates of deposit issued by Central Bank of Lebanon

2024

Interest Withheld

Income Tax Total
LBP'O LBP'000 LBP'0080
555,285,816 - 555,285,916
328,067,033 (28,383,245) 300,683,788
214,195,384 (16,333,845) 199,861,539

64,988,145 - 64,988,145

415,723 - 415723

1,165,952,201

(44,717,090)

1,121,235,111
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2023
Interest Withheld
Income Tax Total
LBP'000 LBP'G00 LBP'600
148,949,917 - 148,949917
157,134,008 (13,639,283) 143,494,725
128,775,458 (9,048,577) 119,726,881
8,450,412 - 8,450,412
4.251 - 4,251
443.314,046 (22,687,860} 420,626,186
2024 2023
LBP'000 LBP'000
8,635,961 9,226,557
207,559,423 119,548,901
216,195,384 128,775,458
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27. Interest expense

interest expense on:

Customers' accounts at amortized cost

Deposits and borrowings from banks

Deposits and borrowings from Parent Bank and financial
mstituitions(Note 42)

Special loan from the Central Bank of Lebanon
Customers' «ceounts - related parties (Note 42)

Lease liabuzry (Note 12)

28. Fee and commission income

Commission income from:

Fee income on customers' transactions

Fee mcome on loans and advances

Commuissicn eamed on insurance policies

Fee income on letters of guarantee and on documentary credits
Commission on transactions with banks

Commission on capital markets customers’ transactions

Other

29, Fee and commission expense

Commission expense on:

Brokerage fees

Commission on transactions with banks and financial institutions
Commission paid to cars dealers

Other
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2024 2023
LBP'H00 LBPOM
71,640,807 14,626,151
237,059,409 49,104,683
796,811 2,215,200
13,781,857 3,697,403
40,369,807 28,587,786
5,371,410 4,140,217
369,020,101 102,371,530
2024 2023
LBP'000 LBP'000
552,992,711 248,953,677
211,844,332 90,002,588
34,937,081 4,104,359
30,026,556 7,732,884
1,646,211 163,184
63,289,988 11,719,148
5,651,623 12,064,425
200,388,502 374,740,269
2024 2023
LBP'000 LEPOGO
306,538 323,176
38,069,681 3,229,132
1,100 10,345
37,511,800 13,115,401
75,889,119 16,678,054
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30. Net interest and other gain on jinvestment securities at fair value through profit or foss

2024 2023
LEP'000 LEP'00U

Dividends received 176,400 52,920

Net unrealized gain 8,898,291,168 100,564,765

Net realized (loss) / gain (a) (7,107,397,244) 122,440,591

1,791,070,324 223,058,276

(a) The sgles of 8,300 Solidere A shares and _,..:0 Sclidere B shares during 2027 and the purchase of
1,000 Solidere A shares and 1,000 Solider= R shares resulted in a gain of LEP 47 billion.

The saies of Eurobonds totaling LBP 7,989 billion resulted in a loss of LBP 7,155 billion.

31. Qther operating income, pet

2024 2023
LBP'600 LBP'000

Multiplier factor costs (a) (53,700) (332,298)
Foreign exchange gain, net (b) 3,009,964,465 716,222,295
Rent income ‘ 19,361,650 5,097,263
Other income 178,368,332 27,143,224
Dividend income from securities measured at fair value through

other comprehensive income 794,313 106,500

3,208,435,060 748,236,984

(a) Mu}tiplier factor costs represent amounts paid to depositors on fresh funds benefitting from the
roultiplier factor.

(b) The_foreign exchange gain - net of LBP 3,010 billion (2023: LBP 716 billion) resulted from the
revaluation of the foreign exchange long position held by the Group, using the new rate published by the
Central Bank of Lebanen.
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32. Staff costs

Salaries

Board of Directors remunerations (Note 42)

Social security contributions*

Provision for staff end-of-service indemnities (Note 20}
Benus and other staff benefits

* Social security contrivutions are uetailed as follows:

End of service contributions
Family contributions
Medical contributions
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2024 2023
LBP'G6O LBP'000
330,318,700 100,165,461

23,854,935 5,104,120

44,526,238 15,914,576
138,592,693 80,558,024
418,228,210 161,228,833
955,520,776 362,971,014

D4 2023
LBP'600 LBP'000

29,362,748 10,616,245

3,400,464 1,132,154

11,754,026 4,166,177

44.526,238 15,914,576
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33. General and administrative expenses

24 2023
LBFP'0GO0 LBP'OOO

Maintenance and repairs 274,784,750 52,990,i76
Heat, light and power 50,261,622 19,961,321
Legal and professional fees 69,919,600 9,705,746
Credit card expenses 53,742,382 11,898,323
Fees and taxes 16,480,860 11,323,464
Electricity and water 35,727,429 4,899,661
Rent and  ~“lding scrvices - 10,01..081 6,501,704
Subscriptions 46,432,759 [2,604,252
insarance 35,569,890 6,382,563
Public relations and entertainment 7,763,911 2,876,477
Cleaning 12,850,569 2,097,815
Telephone and postage 6,363,652 4,223,277
Securnity 13,563,332 2,224,826
Prnting and stationary 4,645,332 1,397,714
Penalty fees - 1,650,000
Advertising and publicity 11,105,018 1,983,880
Money (ransport 15,441,102 2,472 464
Travel 296,139 652,442
Software implementation fees 4,672,195 317,179
Miscellaneous expenses 16,834,392 19,220,453

: 686,504,015 175,443,777

34. Financial instruments with off-balance sheet risks

The guarantees and standby letters of credit and the documentary and commercial letters of credit represent
financial instruments with contractual amounts representing credit risk. The guarantees and standby letters
of credit represent irrevocable assurances that the Group will make payments in the event that a customer
cannot meet its obligations to third parties and are not diffirent from loans and advances in the statement
of financial position. However, documentary and commercial letters of credit which represent written
undertakings by the Group on behaif of a cusiomer authorizing a third party to draw drafts on the Grovp
up to a stipulated amount under specific terms and conditions, are collateratized by the underlying shipment
documents of goods to which they relate and, therefore, have significantly less risks.

35, Fiduciary accounis

Fiduciary deposits include deposits invested in back-to-back lending and are related to resident lenders
and borrowers in addition to fiduciary deposits held or invested on behalf of the Group's customers on a
non-discretienary basis. The risks and rewards of the related operations belong to the account holders.
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36. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash on hand (Note 5)

Current accounts with Central Bank of Lebanon {excluding
compulsory deposits) (Note 5)

Term placements with Central Bank of Lebanon (with original
maturity of less than 3 month)

Current accounts with banks and financial institutions (Note 6)
Current accounts with related banks (Mote 6)

Current accounts with the Parent Bank (Note 6)

December 31,
2024 2023
LBP'G00 LBP'000
1,690,823,540 143,414,722
74,877,141,775 11,446,960,447

27,208,000,000

3,900,000,000

2,709,792,219 267,849,888
23,931,121 4,156,182
176,455,293 35,067,939

_105.686,143,948

15,797.449,178

Major non-cash transactions excfuded from the statement of cash flows for the years ended December 31,

2024 and 2023 are summarized as follows:

Negative change in fair value of investments at fair value through other comprehensive income of LBP 51
billion (Negative change in fair value of LBP 2 billicn as at December 31, 2023).

37, Collateral given

The carrying values of financial assets given as cotlateral are as follows:

December 31,
2024 2023
Corresponding Facilites
Amount of Amount of Mature of Amount of
Pledped Assets Maturity Date Facility Facility Pledged Assets
LBP'GOO LBP'G00 LEP'000 LBP0GO LEP'06O

Certificates of deposit Facilities from the
issued by the Central 471,621,324 June 9, 2029 223,536,892  Central Bank of 79,042,680
Bank of Lebancn Lebanon

28, Risk management

The Group is exposed to various types of risks. some of which are:

e Credit risk: the risk of default or deterioration in the ability of a borrower to repay a loan.
o Liquidity risk: the risk that the Group cannot meet its financial obligations when they comne due in

a timely manner and at reasonable cost.

s Market risk: the risk of loss in balance sheet and off-balance sheet positions arising from
movements in market prices. Movements in market prices include changes in interest rafes

(including credit spreads), exchange rates and equity prices.
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¢ Operational risk: the risk of luss resulting from inadequate or failed intemal processes, people and
systems, or from external events.

o Other risks faced by the Group include concentration risk, reputation risk, legal risk, political risk
and business/strategic risk.

The Board of Directors (the Board) is ultimately responsibie for setting the level of acceptable risks to
which the Group is exposed, and as such, approves the risk appetite and policies of the Group. The Bogrd
mounitors the risk profile in comparison to the risk appetite on a regular basis and follow—'up on existing
and emerging risks. A number of Management committees and departrments are also responsible for various

levels of risk management.

A. Credit Risk

Credit «isk is the risk that a cus:...er or counterpaty will defauic on its contractual obligac.cus resuiting
in financial loss to the Grown, Credit risk mainly arize~ from loans and advances f ensLLmers znd oth;r
banks (including :v.ced cowmitments to lend such as loan or credit card facilities), investments in
government debt securities, certificates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebancn and term deposits
with the Central Bank of Lebanon. The Group considers all elements of credit risk exposure such as
counterparty default risk, geographical risk and sector risk for risk management purposes.

Credit risk management

The Group's Risk Management committee is responsible for managing the Group’s credit risk by:

o Overseeing the risk management function as a whole.

» Ensuring that adequate policies and procedures goveming the work of the risk management
function exist at all levels, are up to date at all times, and ensure the proper and timely identification
of risks that may put the capital of the Group at risk.

e Ensvring full compliance with laws and regulations related to risk management.

¢ Following up on corrective measures proposed by the risk management function and approved by
the risk management committee,

s  Overseeing the work of sub-committees especially when it comes to policies and procedures.

@ Relaying to the Board of Directors its assessment on the adequacy of the risk management frame
work as a whole.

e Reviewing the risk reports making sure to relay to the Board of Directors in due time identified
risks that may require a prompt attention/action.

e Validating al? Risk related Policies, Business Continuity Policies, the Internal Capital Adequacy.

e Ensuring tha: the Group risk appetite and limits are proper]y understood and duly approved by
BOD.

¢ insuring that the Group has policies and procedures in place to appropriaiely maintain and validate
models used to assess and measure ECL.

o Developing and maintaining the Group's risk grading to categories exposures according to the
degree of risk of default. Risk grades are subject to regular reviews.

Sigaificant increase in credit risk

The credit risk grades are designed and calibrated to reflect the risk of default as credit risk deteriorates.
As the credit risk increases the difference in risk of default between grades changes. Each exposure is
allocated to a credit risk grade at initial recognition, based on the available information about the

counterparty.
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All exposures arz monitored, and the credit risk grade is updated to reflect current information. The
monitoring procedures followed are both general and tailered to the type of exposure.
The following data are typically used to monitor the Group's exposures:

o  Payment record, including payment ratios and ageing analysis

e Extent of utilization of granted Iimit

¢ Forbearances {both requested and granted)

o Changes in business, financial and economic conditions

e Credit rating information supplied by extemal rating agencies.
The Group uses credit risk grades as a primary input into the determination of the term structure of the PD
for exposures. The Group collects performance and default information about its credit risk exposures
analyzed by jurisdiction or region and by type of product and borrower as well as by credit risk grading.
The information used is both internal and exiemal depending on the porifolio assessed. The table below

0

provides 2 v...pping cf the Jroup's internal credit risk grades to externo?! . Lgs.

{enival Bank of Lebanon Central Bank of Lebaiou Moody's Moody's
Risk Rating Description Grading Description

Excellent -

1 Normal 1-4 Satisfactory
Adequate -

2 Follow up 5-6 Marginal

3 Follow up and regularization 7 Vulnerable

4 Substandard 8 Substandard

5 Doubtful 9 Doubtful

6 Loss 10 Loss

The Group analyses all data collected using statistical models and estimates the remaining lifetime PD of
exposures and how these are expected to change over time. The factors taken into-account in this process
include macro-economic, mainly Real GDP growth. The Group generates a 'base case' scenario of the
future direction of relevant ecoromic variables as well as a representative range of other possible forecast
scenarios. The Group then uses these forecasts, which are probability-weighted, to adjust its estimates of

PDs.

The Group presumes for retail loans that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments are more t:an 30 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that denonstrates otherwise.

Incerporation of forward-looking information

The ECL model contains a three-stage approach which is based on the change in credit quality of financial
assets since initial recognition. The ECL model is forward-looking and requires the use of reasonable and
supportable forecasts of future economic conditions in the determination of significant increases in credit

risk and measurement of FCL.
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Measurement of ECL
The key inputs used for measuring ECL are:
o probability of default (PD);
o loss given default (LGD); and
@ exposure at default (EAD).
As explained above these figures are generally derived from internally developed statistical
models and other historical data and they are adjusted to reflect probability-weighted forward-

looking information.

PD is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. It is estimated as at a point in time.
The calculation is based on statistical rating models and assessed using rating ools tailored to the various
crtegorics of counterparties and saposures. These statistical ~ndels zre based on maiket dzia (where
available), as well as internal data comprising both quantitative and qualitative facters. PDs are estimated
considenng tha caatractual maturities of Chpewwtiles, e estimation is based o current conditions, adjusica
to take into account estimates of future conditions that will impact PD.

LGD is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash
flows due and those that the Jender would expect to receive, taking into account cash flows from any
collateral. The LGD models for secured assets consider forecasts of future collateral valuation taking into
account sale discounts, time to realization of collateral, cross-collateralization and seniority of claim, cost
of realization of collateral and cure rates (i.e. exit from non-performing status). LGD models for unsecured
assets consider time of recovery, recovery rates and seniority of claims. The calculation is on a discounted
cash flow basis, where the cash flows are discounted by the ariginal EIR of the loan.

EAD is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account expected changes in the
exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and interest, and expected drawdowns
on committed facilities. The Group's modelling approach for EAD reflects expected changes in the balance
outstanding over the lifetime of the loan exposure that are permitted by the current contractual terms, such
as amortization profiles, early repayment or overpayment, changes in utilization of undrawn commitments
and credit mitigation actions taken before default. The Group uses EAD models that reflect the

charactenistics of the portfolios.

The Group measures ECL considering the risk of default over the maximum contractual period (including
extension options) over which the entity is exposed to credit risk and not a longer period, even ifcontr‘act
extension or renewal is common business practice. However, for exposures such as credit cards, revolving
credit facilities and overdraft facilities that include both a loan and an undrawn commitment componenf:,
the Group's contractual ability to demand repayment and cancel the undrawn commitment does not limit
the Group's exposure to credit losses to the contractual notice period. For such exposures the Group
measures ECL over the period that it is exposed to credit risk and ECL would not be mitigated by credit
risk management actions, even if that period extends beyond the maximum contractual period.

These exposures do not have a fixed term or repayment structure and have a short contractual cancellation
period.

However, the Group does not enforce in the normal day-to-day management the contractual right to cancel
these exposures. This is because these exposures are managed on a collective basis and are canceled only
when the Group becomes aware of an increase in credit risk at the facility level.
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This longer period is estimated taking into account the credit risk management actions that the Group
expects to take to mitigate ECL, e.g. reduction in limits or cancellation of the loan commitment.

Groupings based on shared risks characteristics

When ECL are measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped on the basis of product
type.

The groupings are reviewed on a regular basis to ensure that each group is comprised of homogerous
exposures.

Credit Rigk monitoring and review

Since the last quarter of 2019, the severe and unprecedented economic situation in Lebanon exerted
significant pressure on the asset quality of the domestic loan portfolio. As a result, credit quality of the
Lebarese loan portfolio has decli-~+ drivea by a weakemng in thie dorrowers' creditworthi= "~ acros.
various segment types.

I. Maximum exposure to credit risk
The following corresponds to the maximum credit risk exposure net of the expected credit loss atlowances:

December 31, 2024

Deposits with the Central Rank of Lebanon
(Note 5)

Deposits with banks and financial institutions
(Note 6)

Loans and advances to customers (Note 7)
[nvestment securities at amortized cost

{Note §)

Investment securities at fair value through other
comprehensive incorne (Note )

Investment securities at fair value through profit
ot foss (Note 9)

Other asscts (Note 15)

Commitments and financial guarantees

Allowance for

Gross expected credit Net carrying
amounts losses amounts
LBP000 LEBP'000 LBP000

118,185,520,178

2,946,217,962
12,607,042,135
41,054,786,741

963,541,118

6,464,087,309
280,855,560

(1,118,448,337)

(8,255,430)
(6,970,142,005)
(13,890,781,710)

(774,959,020)

117,067,071,841

2,937,962,532
5,636,900,130
27,164,005,031

188,582,098

6,464,087,309
280,855,560

162,502,051,003

(22,762,586,502)

159,739,464,501

1,986,522,861

(4,149,550}

1,982,373,311
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Deposits with the Central Bank of Lebanon
(Note 5)

Deposits with banks and financial institutions
{Note 6)

Loans and advances to customers (Noie 7)
Investment securiiies - amorts.ed cost

{Note 8)

Investrica: securitios at fair vaiue through other
comprehensive income (Note §)

Investment securities at fair value through profit
or loss (Note 9)

Other assets (Note 15)

Commitments and financial guarantees

December 31, 2023

Allowauce for

Gross expected credit Net earrying
amounts losses amounis
LEP300 LBP’G00 LBP0O0

19,992,410,285 (166,310,441) 16,826,099,344
324,026,242 (1,158,519) 322,867,723

2,854,804,616
,047,616,078

(1,020,792,646)
(3,544,450 1)

1,834,011,970
16,303,181,171

269,456,124 (233,435,100) 36,021,024
687,155,754 ; 687,155,754
65,739,340 - 65,739,340
34,041,208,439 (4,966,131,613) _ 29,075,076,826
368,507,947 (3,793,334) 364,714,613
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fI. Exposures subject to ECL

Gioss Exposures
Depasits with the Central Bark of Lebanen

Deposits with banks and francial mstitutions
Loans and advances to customers

Investment securities at amortized cost
Investment securities at fair vaiue through other
comprehensive income

Commiments and fnancial gratantees

Expected Credit Losses

Deposits with the Central Bank of Lebaron
Deposits with banks and financial mstitions
Loans and advances to customers

Investment securities at amortized cost
Investment securities at fair vaiue through other
comprehensive mcome

Commizments and financial guarantees

Met Exposures
Deposits with the Central Bank of Lebancn

Deposits with banks and fmancial hstitutions
Loans and advances to customers

Investment securities at amortized nost
Investment securities at fair vakie through other
comprehensive income

Commitmerds and financiz] guarantees

December 31,2024

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
LBP'00O LBP'0G0 LBP'G00 LBP'0OOO
118,185,520,178 - 118,185,520,178
2,546,217,962 - - 2,946,217,962
1,479,750,454 532,903,430 10,594,388,251 12,607,042,135

- 739,978,208 40,314,808,533 41,054,786,741
68,541,118 - 895,000,000 963,541,118
1,837,502,824 144,173 100 4,895,937 3 ‘1;986,522,86]

124,517,532,536

1,417,004,/38

51,809,093,721

L 77,743,630,995

(1,118,448 337)

(1,118,448,337)

(8,255,430) ; ; (8,255,430)
(66,222,886) (49,544806)  (6,854,374,313)  (6,970,142,005)

- - (13,890,781,710)  (13,890,781,710)

- . (774,959,020) (774,959,020)

(451,910) (3,452,793) (244,847) (4,149,550)
(1,193,378,563) (52,997,599)  (21,520,359.890)  (22,766,736,052)

117,067,071,841
2.937,962,532

117,067,071,841
2,937,962,532

1,413,881,128 483,005,004 3,740,013,938 5,636,900,130

- 739,978,208 26,424,026,823 27,164,005,031

68.541,118 120,040,980 188,582,098
1,837.067,506 140,653,715 4,652,090 1982373311
123,324,524,125 1,363,636,987 30,288,733,831 _15_‘!,976,894,943
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Gross Exposures
Deposits with the Central Bank of Lebanan

Deposits with banks and fmancial mstitutions
Loans and advances to customers
Investment securities at amortized cost

Investment securities at fair value through other
comprehensive income
Commitments and financial guarantees

Expected Credit Losses

Deposts with the Central Bank of Lebancn
Deposits with barks and financia) mstitutions
Loans and advances to customers

Investment securities at amortized cost
Investment securitics at fair value through other
comprehensive ncome

Commitments and financial guarantees

Net Exposures
Deposits with the Ceniral Bark of Lebanon

Deposits with banks and financial institutions
Loans and advances to customers

Invesfment securities at amortized cost
Investment securities at fai- value through other
comprehensive mcome

Commiments and financial guarantees

Becember 31, 2023
Stage 1 Stape 2 Stage 3 Total
LBP'000 LEP'OGO LBP'OOO LBP'O0O

19,602,410,286 - - 19,992,410,286
324,026,242 - - 324,026,242
660,364,779 349,962,922 1,844,476,915 2,854,804,616
- 755,884,000 9,091,731,979 0,847,616,078
19,696,899 - 249,759,225 269,456,124
333,228,449 35,278,498 1,000 368,507,947

21.329,726 655

1,141,125,519

11,185,969, 119

13,656821,293

(166,310,441} - - (166,310,441}
(1,158,519) ; ; (1,158,519)
(12,242,330) (27,172,418) (981,377,898)  (1,020,792,646)
- - (3,544,434907)  (3,544,434,907)
- . (233,435,100) (233.435,100)
(432,171) (3,360,163) (1,000) (3,793,334)
(180,143 461) (30,532,581} (4,759,248005)  (4,960,924.947)
19,826,099,345 - - 19,826,099,345
322,867,723 - - 122,867,723
648,122,449 122,790,504 863,099,017 1,834,011,970

; 755,884,099 5,547,297,072 6,303,181,171

19,696,899 - 16,324,125 36,021,024
332,796,278 31,918,335 ; 364,714,613
21,149,583,194 1,110,592,038  6,426,720214  28,686,806,346
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1. Movement of ECL

At Japuary 1, 2024
Deposits with the Central Bank of Lebanon

Deposits with banks and financial istirutions
Loans and advances to customers

Investment securities at amortized cost
Investment securities at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Commiiments and financial guarantees

Net charge for the vesr

Deposits with the Central Bank of Lebancn
Deposils wih +
Loans and advances to customers

Investment securities at amortized cost
Investment securities at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Commitments and fmancial guarantees

- zad tuencial institutions

Write-~ofis
Loans and advances to customers

Net transfers between stages

Loans and advances to customers
Commitments and fimancial guarantees

Effect of exchange rates changes

Deposits with the Central Bank of Lebanon
Depostts with barks and financial instinztions
Loans and advances to customers

[nvestment :ecurities at amoartized cost
Investment securities at fair vahie through other
comprehensive income

Commitments and financial guarantees

At December 31, 2024

Deposits with the Central Bank of Lebanon
Deposits with banks and financial nstitutions
Loans and advances to customers

Investment securities at amortized cost
Investment securities at farr value through other
Commitments and financial guarantees

21024
Stage 1 Stage 2 _ Stage3 Total
LBPGHO LEP'(O0 LEP'O0O LBP'0OO
166,310,441 - - 166,310,441
1,158,519 - ; 1,153,519
12,242 330 21172418 981,377,898 1,020,792,646
- - 3544434907 3544434907
- - 233435,100 233,435,100
432,171 3,360,163 1,000 3,793,334
180,143,461 30,532,581 4,759 248 905 4,969,924 947
136,513,963 - - 136,513,963
LARAT - - 1 422,472
2,160,811 (27,020,800} 1,056,902,432 1,032,042437
- - 3,855,086,262 3,855,086,262
(649.455023)  (649.455,023)
(353,560) (16,411,298) (203,800) (16,968,658)
139,743 686 (43432,104) 4262329871 4358641453
- - (842,084) {842,684)
- - (842.684) (842,684}
(5,127,558) (55,067,531) 60,195,089 -
(16,552) 16,592 - -
(5,144,150} (55,050,939 60,195,089 -
315,623,933 - - 815,623,933
5674439 ; ; 5674439
56,947,303 104,460,725 4756741578 4.918,149,506
. - 6,491.260,541 6,491 260,541
- 1,190,978,943 1,190,978,943
373299 16,503,928 447647 17,324,874
878,618,974 120,564,653 12439428709 13,439012,336
1,118,448 337 - - 1,118,448 337
8,255430 - - 8255430
66,222 886 49,544 806 6,854,374 313 6,970,142,005
- - 13,890,781,710 13,890,781,710
- - 774,959,020 774,959,020
451,910 3,452,793 244 847 4,149,550
1,193,378 563 52,897,599 21,520,359,890 22,766,736,052
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At Janwary 1, 2023
Deposits with the Central Bank of Lebanon

Deposits with banks and financial institutions
Loans and advances to customers

Investment securities at amortized cost
Investment securities at farr value through other
comprebensive income

Commitments and financial gusrantees

Net vharpe for e year

Depusiiz . the Ceyeral Rank of Lehanon
Deposits with banks and financial jnstitutions
Leans and advances to customers

Investment securities at amortized cost
Investment securities at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Commitments and financial guarantees

Write-offs
Loans and advances to customers

Net transfers between stages

Loans and advances to customers

Effect of exchange rates changes

Deposits with the Central Bank of Lebznon
Deposits with banks and financial institutions
Loans and advances to customers

Investment securities at amortized cost
Investment securities at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Comrnitments and fmancial guarantees

At December 31, 2023

Deposits with the Central Bank of Lebanon
Deposits with banks and financial institutions
Loans and advances to customers

[nvestment securities at amortized cost
Investment securities at fair value through other
comprehensive ncome

Commitments and financial guarantees

2023
Stage ! Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
LEBP'GOO LBP'CO0 LBF'0O0 LBF'0CO
11,522,428 - - 11,522428
158,493 - - 158,493
1,292,645 5,556,714 135233701 143,083,060
- - 256,287,862 256,287,862
- - 23,604,231 23604231
47,681 775978 1,000 §24,659
13,021,247 7,332,692 415,126,794 435480733
44,665,178 - 44,665,178
179439 - - 175,439
3,848 139 6,814,420 (75,422 237) (64,759,678)
- - 965,212,028 965,212,028
. - 74439 74,439
216,268 (1,840,146) - (1,623,878)
48,909,024 4974274 889,864,230 643,747,528
- - (64,216,653) (64,216,653
- - (64216653) (64,216653)
1,620,924 (12,977467) 11,356,543 -
1,620,924 (12,977467) 11,356,543 -
110,122,835 - - 110,122,835
820,587 - - 320,587
54£0,622 26,778,751 974,426,544 1,006,685,917
- - 2,322,935,017 2,322,935,017
- 209,756,430 209,736,430
168,222 4424331 - 4,592,553
116,592,266 31,203,082 3,507,117.991 3,654,913,339
166310441 - - 166,310,441
1,158,519 - - 1,158,519
12,242,330 27,172418 981,377,898 1,020,792,646
- - 3,544,434,907 3,544,434 907
- - 233,435,100 233435,100
432,171 3,360,163 1,600 1,793,334
180,143,461 30,532,581 4,759,248 905 4,969,924.947
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Allocation of gross amount of loans and advances to customers by economic sector:

December 31,
2024 2023
LEBP*000 LBP*000
Corporate:
Agriculture 250,841,606 62,347,501
Commerce 4,145,045.762 912,279,471
Construction and real estate 2,548,398,179 784,032,398
Individual 322,030,405 50,953,847
Industrial [,223,461,838 216,358,650
Services 1,126,473,840 158,101,6_%0
9,616,25(,630  2,134,073,5i7
Retail loans 2,961,717,881 649,210,763
Accrued mterest receivable 29,072,624 21,520,336
12,6067,042,135 2,854,804,616

Netting arrangements:

The Group sometimes further restricts its exposure to crecit losses by entering into netting arrangements
with counterparties. Netting arrangements reduce credit risk associated with favorable contracts to the
extent that if a default occurs, all amounts with the counterparty are terminated and settled on a net basis.

The Group makes use of master netting agreements and other arrangements not eligible for netting under
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation with its counterparties. Such arrangements provide for single
net settlement of alf financial instruments covered by the agreements in the eveni of default on any one
confract. Although, these master netting arrangements do not normaily result in an offset of balance sheet
assets and liabilities (as the conditions for offsetting under IAS 32 may not apply), they, nevertheless,
reduce the Group's exposure to credit risk, as shown in the tables on the following pages. Although master
- netting arrangements may significantly reduce credit risk, it should be noted that the credit msk is
eliminated only to the extent of amounts due to the same counterparty.

IV. Risk Mitigation Policies
The Group mainly employs collateral to mitigate credit risk. The principal collateral types for loans and
advances are:

» Pledged deposits

® Mortgages over real estate properties (land, commercial and residential properties)

o Bank guarantees

Collateral generally is not held over loans and advances to banks, except when securities are held as part
of a reverse repurchase and securities borrowing activity. Collateral usually is not held against investment

securities.
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BEC BANK S.AL

Notes to the Consclidated Financial Statements For the year ended December 31, 2024

(a.2) Concentration of major financial assets and liabilities by geographical location:

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Cash and balances with the
Ceatral Bank of Lebanon

Deposits with barks and
fmancial mstitutions

[nvestment securities at fair
valug (g profi or wss
Loans arei:  iesin
CUstomers

Investment securities

FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES

Deposits from banks and
fmancial mstitutions

Cusfomers' accounts

Borrowings from Central
Bank of Lebanon

Lease liabilities

December 31, 2024
Middle East and
Lebanon Africa North America Europe Other Total

LBP'000 LBP'G09 LBP'000 LBP'0OC LBP'0OD LBP'00O
118,757 895,381 - - - 118,757,895381
211588291 43,137450 1955331518 727905273 - 2937962532
6,464,087 30% - - - 6464087 209
5232885800 364872939 9,261,196 22,140,480 9,739,715 5,636,900,1 50
27352,587,129 - - - - 27352,587,120
158019,043910 406,010,389 1,964,592,714 750,045,753 9,739,115 161,149.432481
598,132,320 7,897 100,540,502 19,196,732 - 717,877,551
121,450,225,509 22,838,655,097 4078370673 6,041,595,566  2,160,033,778 156,568,880,623
396,719.911 . - - 396,719911
73.657934 . . - - | 73657934
122518735674 22833662994 4178911275 6060,792298  2,150,033.778 157,757,136619
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BLC BANK S.AL
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the vear ended December 31, 2024

Becember 31, 2023

Middle East and

Lebanon Africa Morth America Europe Other Total
LBP0O00 LBP'0GO LBP'00O LBICOC LBP'90D LBPO0O
FINATICIAL ASSETS
Cash and balances with
the Central Bank of 19,969,514,566 19,969,514,566
Lebanon R . R R
Deposits with banks and » -
- 22,867,723
financial institutions 36,036,329 6,755,775 92,843,533 187212086 322,
Tavestment securities at
fair value through profit or 687,155,754 - - - - 687,155,754
loss
Loars wnd advirees to -
~ (97 40 PRk ; 22401197
customers 1761337110 64,043,799 2023427 4370853 221,77 LRMOILITS
< ¥EIMTT ~2CUrities 6,339202,193 - - - _433920:195
28,793,265 954 70,799,574 94,866,960 191,601,949 2217771 29,152,752208
FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES
Deposits from banks and
- . 5,956
financial mstitutions 39,238,920 1324 L§43,112 4110593
Customers’ accounts 22,048,351,554 3,895,866,883 668,614,385 1,031,269,533 383,519,800 28027622155
Borrowmngs from the
. - - - 30087
Central Bank of Lebanon 266,630,087 2696500
. 24331630

Lease fabilties 24332630 . - .
22,381,573,191 3,895,868,207 668,614,385 1,033,115,245 383,519,800 28,362,690,828

B. Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its net funding requirements. Liquidity risk
can be caused by market disruptions or credit downgrades, which may cause certain sources of funding to
dry up immediately. Lebanon is facing adverse conditions and high level of uncertainty since October
2019, as a result of deterjoration of the econoric environment which lead to a severe disruption of normal
bustness operations and the de-facto capital control, feading to incremental credit risks and restricted access
to foreign currency among other adverse factors.

1. Management of liquidity risk

Liquidity management invclves maintaining ampls and diverse funding capacity, liquid assets and other
sources of cash to accommodate fluctuations in asset and liability levels due to changes in their business
operations or unanticipated events. Through Assets and Liabilities Committee, the Board of Directors is
responsible for establishing the liquidity policy as well as approving operating and contingency procedures
and monitoring liquidity on an ongoing basis. The treasury department is responsible for planning and
executing their funding activities and strategy.
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BLC BANK S5.A.L
Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2024

2. Exposure to liguidity risk

Repulatory requirements

The liquidity position is assessed and managed under a variety of scenarios, giving due consideratica to
stress factors relating to both the market in general, and specifically to the Group. In Lebanon and since
October 2019 events, the Group monitors on a daily basis the ratio of available international foreign
currency liquidity to international commitments over various time horizons. The Central Bank of Lebanon,
through its Basic circular 154 dated 27 August 2020, issued various requirements aiming at restoring the
normal banking operations in Lebanon to their pre-October 2019 levels. Among these requirements,
Lebanese banks were requested to maintain total current account balance with foreign correspondent banks
(international liquidity that is free of any obligation) in excess of 3% of the Group's total foreign currency
deposits as at July 31, 2020 by February 28, 2021. On December 24, 2020, the Banking Control
Commission of Lebanon issued memo 18/2020 that contains guidance for th= calculation of this ratio. The
requiret.ent was later amended ticvwgn Intormediate Circular 645 Lo consider foreign currency v usits Ac
at September 30, 2022 as the b+~*s for = computation nstead of Tuly 31, 2020, thus lowering liquidity
reguired levels as customers’ deposits decreased over the period. The requirement was laler amended
through Intermediate Circular 707, dated September 20, 2024, to consider foreign currencies deposits as at
July 31, 2024 instead of September 30, 2022. Banks are granted a time limit ending December 31, 2025 to
adjust their situation accordingly.
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BLC BANK 5.A.L
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements For the year ended December 31, 2024

. Marxet Risk
The market risk s the risk that the fair value or future cash tlows of a financial instrument will be affected
because of changes in market prices such as interest rate, equity prices, foreign exchange and credit

spreads.

Exposure to foreign exchange risk:
The Group is subject to currency risk on financial assets and liabilities that are denominated in currencies
other than the Lebanese Pound. Most of these financial assets and liabilities are in US Dollars and Euros.

As disclosed in Note 1.3.1, the Group’s assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are valued at the
exchange rates published by the Central Bank of Lebanon which does not always represent a reasonable
estimate of cash flows in Lehanese Pounds that would have to be generated/used from the realisation of
Sucii assets and the payment of such iiabilities.

Below 1s the carrying value of assets and lizbilities segregated by major currencies Lo reflect the Group's
exposure to foreign currency exchange risk at year end:
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BLC BANK S.A.L
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements For the year ended December 31, 2024

Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies presented in the tables above include onshore asseis and
liabilities in foreign currencies that are subject to unofficial capital controls in Lebanon, which is further
explained in Note 1. Th=se are held by entities operating in Lebanon and will be realized/settled without
recourse to foreign currency cash and/ or foreign bank accounts outside Lebanon (“fresh funds"}. Hence
these cannot be perceived to have an economic value equivalent to that of offshore foreign currency assets
and liabilities and should be viewed and managed separately. The tables below include segregation of
onshore and offshore assets and liabilities in foreign currencies:

December 31, 2024

Onshore Offshore
Foreign foreign
LBP Furreacy Currency Total
LBP'600 LBP'CO0 L=z wub LBPI0L
ASSETS

Cash and balances with the Central Bank of

Lebanon 822,986,114 116,152,427,267 1,782,482,000 118,757,895,381
Deposits with banks and financial institutjons 25,100,762 138,819,241 2,774,042,529 2,937,962,532
;f; tu: :T;;;cmes at fair value through 7.112,656 6,456,974,653 6,464,087,309
Loans and advances to customers 76,757,137 4,997,550,682 562,592,311 5,636,900,130
Investment securities 759,287,378 26,593,299,751 - 27,352,587,129
Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans 10,680,618 - 6,923,038,046 6,933,718,664
Right-of-use assets 990,127 - 990,127
Property and equipment 4,952,113,398 - - 4.952,113,898
Intangible assets 297,562 . . 297,562
Other assets 71,711,787 286,082 399 3,587,070 341,381,256
Total Assets 6,727.038,039 154,625,153,993 12,045,741,956 173,397,933,988
LIABILITIES

Deposits from banks and financial institutions 502,620,589 86,042,879 129,214,083 717,877,551
Custorners' accounts 1,444,717,845 150,783,123,004 4,341,039,774 156,568,880,623
Borrowings from the Central Bank of Lebanon 171,245,116 225,474,795 - 396,719,911
Lease ‘iabilities 109,559 73,545,375 . 73,657,934
Other liabilities 223,657,231 2,207,736,458 79,211,071 2,510,004,760
Provisions 439,405,236 367,400,985 - 806,800,221
‘Tota‘l Liabilities 2,781,755,576 153,743,326,496 4,549 464,928 161,074 547000
Net Assets 3,945282,463 381327497 7,496.277,028 12,323,386,988
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BLC BANK S.AL
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the vear ended December 31, 2024

ASSETS:

Cash and balances with the Central Bank of
Lebanon

Deposits with banks and financial institutions
Investments securities at fair value through
profit or loss

Loans and advances to customers
mvestment secu; ities

Assets acquired in satisfaction of Joans
Kight-of-use assets

Property and equipment

Intangible assets

Other assets

Total Assets

LIABILITIES

Deposits from barks and financial institutions
Customers' accounts

Borrowing from the Central Bank of Lebanon
Lease [iabilities

Other habilities

Provisions

Total Liabilities

Net Assets

Interest rate risk

December 31,2023
Onshore Offshore
Foreign foreign
LBP currency Currency Total
LBP0OO LBP'O00 LBP'GOG LBP'O00
690,009,738 19,188,739,352 90,765,476 19,969,514,566
3,671,759 32,249,533 286,946,431 322,867,723
5,759,965 681,395,789 - 687,155,754
117,939,010 1,668,158,302 47,914,658 1,834,011,970
767296387 55.1,902.838 - 65,339,202,195
10,924,978 - 6,923,161,963 6,934,086,94
T 20 - - 2,059,52¢
5,042,084,444 - - 5,042,084,444
783,067 - - 783,067
35,301,106 60,222,607 518,232 . 96,041,945
6,675,832,944 27,202,668,421 7,349,306,760 41,227,808,125
22,091,995 17,363,582 1,650,379 41,105,956
1,171,905,649 26,540,635,013 315,081,493 28,027,622,155
216,417,512 53,212,575 . - 269,630,087
121,817 24,210,813 - 24,332,630
82,565,530 83,947,752 1,627,165 168,140,447 )
291,710,738 20,031,840 - 311,742,578

1,784,813 241

26,739,401,575

318,359,037

28,842573,853

4,891,019,703

463,266,846

7.030,947,723

12,385,234,272

Interest rate risk represenis exposures io instruments whose values vary with the level of volatility of
‘interest rates. These instruments include, but are not limited to, loans, debt securities, certain trading-
related assets and liabilities, deposits, borrowings and derivative instruments. Interest rate repricing gap is
used to estimate the impact on earnings of an adverse movement in interest rates,
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BLC BANK S.ALL
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements For the vear ended December 31, 2024

. Operational Risk

Operatiopal risk is defined as the risk of loss or damage resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes,
people, systems or external events. The Basel definition of operational risk includes legal risk, and excludes
reputational and strategic risks. Still, the failure of operational risk controls may result in reputational damage, -
business disruptions, business ioss, or non-compliance with laws and regulations that can lead to significant
financial losses. Therefore, reputational and strategic risks are indirectly mitigated once the operational risks
acting as their key drivers are well managed.

The operational risk management framework is implemented by an independent Operational Risk
Management department that operates in coordination with other support functions such as: Corporate
fnfi+ wation Zacurity and Compliance. The Intenal Audit provides an independent assurance on the adequacy

~nd Fm sliveness of this framewn:¥: through periodic reviews,

Operational risks are managed across the bank based on a set of principles and standards detailed in the Board-
approved operational risk management framework. These principles and standards include at a minimum:
segregation of duties, four-eye principle, and independency of employees performing controls,
reconciliations, and awareness. Controls are also embedded within systems and formalized in policies and

procedures.

Incidents are captured and analyzed to identify their root causes. Corrective and preventive measures are
recommended to prevent future reoccurrences. Risk and Control Assessments (RCAs) are conducted on an
ongoing basis to identify risks and contro! vuinerabilities associated to existing or new operations, products,
processes, activities and systems. Key Risk Indicators are also developed continuously to detect alarming
trends. Recommendations to improve the control environment are commumcated to concemed parties and

escalated fo Management as deemed necessary.
Major incidents, RCA findings and operational losses are reported to the Board of Directors and Board Risk
Committees periodically as per the governance framework set in the bank Operational Risk policy.

Insurance coverage is used as an additional layer of mitigation and is commensurate with the Group business

activities, in terms of volume and nature.

E. Other Risks
Litigation Risk
Litigation risk arises from pending or potential legal proceedings against the Group and in the event that legal

issues are not properly dealt with by the Group. Litigation that may arise, whether from lawsuits or from
arbitration proceedings, may affect the operations of the Group as well as its results,

Since October 17, 2019, and as a resuit of the de-facto capital control and other measures adopted by Lebanese
banks imposing various restrictions of free flow of customers’ funds deposited with the banking sector, the
Group has been subject to an increased litigation risk. Managenient is monitoring and assessing the impact of
potential litigation and claims against the Group in relation to these restrictive measures taking into
consideration prevailing laws, regulations and local banking practices.
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BLC BANK S.A.L
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2024

Folitical Risk

External factors which are beyond the control of the Group, such as political developments and govemment
actions in Lebanon (Note 1) and other countries may adversely affect the operations of the _Group, s
strategy and prospects. Other important political risk factors include government intervention on _the
Group’s activities and social developmeats in the countries in which the Group operates, pol}tle‘ai
developments in Lebanon, and the political and social unrest and political instability or military conflict in
neighboring countries and/or other overseas areas.

Given the above, the Group recognizes that unforeseen political events can have negative effects on the
fulfilment of contractual relationships and obligations of its customers and other counterparties which will
result in significant impact on Group’s activities, operating results and position. .

39. Contingencies
Provisions for risk and charges inc™es pic visions against tax coniingencies, litigations znd ~ims
whereby the Group is defendant in several lawsuits.

The Group 's tax returns for the years 2018 till 2024 inclusive are still subject to review by the relevant tax
authorities. Any additional tax liability depends on the outcome of such reviews.

The Group 's social security declarations since October 2017 remain subject to review by the Social
Security authorities. Any additional liabilities depend on the outcome of such reviews.

On June 7, 2021 a decision was taken by the Execution court in Metr to apply a conservative sei;ure on
the Group’s movable assets in some of its branches as one of the customers has filed a lawsuit against the
Bank for an amount of USD 1.4 million and EUR 259. The Group has filed an opposition against the
decision on November 1, 2021 which is still pending before the court and also requested to move the
conservatory seizure in counterpart of depositing a bankers check in LBP amounting to LBP 2.4 billion on
December 6, 2021 but has been rejected by the court on April 11, 2022. The advance payment was recorded

under "sundry debtors" (Note 15).

On May 17, 2022 a decision was issued to expand the conservatory seizure to include property No. 4740
from Ashrafieh real estate area.

Orn June 6, 2022 the Group deposited a bankers check in USD amounting to USD 1.5 million in order to
request to move the conservatory seizure which is still pending before the court and it has been accepted
by the judge on the 13th of March 2023. The Plaintiff had objected the said decision on March 21, 2023,
but the objection was also rejected by virtue of a judgment issued on November 27,2023,
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40. Capital management

The adequacy of the Group’s capital is monitored using, among other measures, the rules and ratios

established by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BIS rules/ratios) as adopted by the Central

Bank of Lebanon, which is the lead supervisor of the Bank.

Central Bank of Lebanon introduced several key changes in the calculation of regulatory capital adequacy

ratios. These changes include:

» Increasing the regulatory expected credit loss level for Lebanese Government boads in foreign
currency and Lebanese government-related exposures in same currency from 9.45% to 45% and then
later to 75% (as per intermediate circulars No.649 dated November 24, 2022 and No.659 dated January
20, 2023 updating the changes introduced by intermediate circular No.567 dated August 26, 2020).

Regulatory ECL for other = 2sures emain unchanged.

Type of financial instrument 2024 2023
Exposures to Central Bank of Lebanon in foreign currency 1.89 % 1.89 %
Exposures to Central Bank of Lebanon in Lebanese Pound 9 % 0%
Lebanese government securities in foreign currency 75 % 75 %
0% 0%

Lebanese government securities in Lebanese Pound

»  Requesting banks to increase their own funds (capital) by an amount equivalent to 20% of thelr
common equity tier one capital as of December 31, 2018, through issuing new foreign currency capital
instruments, as well as other approaches that meet the criteria for inclusion as regulatory capital. The
deadline for raising capital was initially set at December 31 2020 but was later extended for the

banking sector to February 28, 2021.

As discussed in note 21, the Banks extraordinary General Assembly of shareholders held on January
30, 2020 called additional cash contribution from shareholders in the amount of USD 93.86 million.
Up to December 31, 2020 the Bank's shareholders setiled USD 45.96 million (LBP 69.29 billion) in
the form of cash contribution and the remaining balance of USD 47.9 million (LBP 72.2 billion) was

settled in 2021,

> Exceptionally during 2020 and 2021, allowing banks to drawn down the 2.5% capital conservation
buifer on cond’tion of rebuilding it progressively starting 2022 by 0.75% each year, to reach the
‘ninimum required level of 2.5% by the end of 2024.

»  Prohibiting Lebanese banks from distributing dividends on common shares for the financial years
2019, 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024 as well as prohibiting banks from distributing dividends if
capital adequacy ratios drop below 7% for common equity tier 1, 10% for tier 1 and 12% for _total
capital (compared to the regulatory minimum limits of 7%, 8.5% and 10.5% respectively, including a

2.5% capital conservation buffer).

> - Exceptionally for the years 2020 and 2021, Allowances for Expected Credit Losses on Stage 1 and 2
exposures, excluding those relating to Lebanese sovereign and the Central Bank of Lebar_ion, may Ee
imcluded under regulatory Common Equity Tier 1. This treatment will be gradually amortized to 75%

i 2022, 50% in 2023 and 25% in 2024.
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»  Exceptionally for 2022 and 2023, allowing banks to include under CET 1 part of the losses resulting
from the purciase of local dollars from the Central Bank of Lehanon agaiust Lebanese Pound for the
purpose or reducing open net FX short positions prior to November 17, 2022. In 2022, 66% of these
losses can be included under CET 1, while in 2023, a maximum o 33% level applies.

»  Allowing banks to include the revaluation surplus of property and equipment in Tier I capital, subject
to BDL approval on the revaluation. On January 20, 2023, Intermediate Circular 659 capped the
nclusion of revaluation of fixed assets at 50% under certain conditions while allowing the use of the
prevailing Sayrafa rate at the end of each reporting period over 5 years. On December 28, 2023,
Intermediate Circular 685 permitted the inclusion of 75% of the revaluation surplus of fixed assets in
the calculation of Tier I capital, while allowing the use of the BDL platform rate as at 30.06.2023 and

at the end of each reporting period over 5 vears.

> In Octoter 20620, the BCC issued rzmo No. 15/2020 requestine frow: hanks to develop a roadrop to
ensw.v adherence to capital ratic: and liquidity requiremsrts, covenng the years from 2020 ¢ ZUZ4.
As per the memo, the below minimum capital adequacy ratios are applied:

Ratio (%) 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
Minimum Capital Ratio (including the Capital ‘
Conservation Buffer) ' :

Common Equity Tier [ / risk-weighted assets 450% 4.50% 525% 6.00%  7.00%
Net Tier 1 / risk-weighted assets 6.00% 6.00% 6.75% 7.50%  8.50%
Total capital / risk-weighted assets 8.00% 8.00% 875% 9.50% 10.50%

Provisions added to Capital Equity Tier 1
Provisions taken on Stage 1 and 2 assets and
commitments except provisions taken

against Lebanese Sovereign & Central Bank

100.00% 100.00% 75.00% 50.00% 25.00%
exposures, to be added to Common Equity Tier 1 :

In 2022, BCC issued an intermediate circular number 595 whereby it has lowered the risk-weight to be applied
on the Lebanese Corporate Resident Portfolio from 150% to 100%.
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The Group 's capital adequacy ratio was as follows:

December, 31
20124 2023

LBP Million LBP Million

Common Equity Tier [ 480,177 418,234
Additional Tier [ capital - 152,787 152,787

632,964 571,021

Tier 11 capita} 1,263,951 186,627
Total regulatory capital 1,896,915 757,648
Credit nisk 122,695 L22 A5
Market risk 28,501 3,719
Operational risk 7,829 1,681
Risk-weighted assets and risk-weighted off-balance sheet items 159,025 29,067
. Equity Tier I ratio 0.30% 1.44%
Tier I capital ratio 0.40% 1.96%
2561%

Risk based capital ratio - Tier [ and Tier II capital 1.19%

The Group's capital adequacy ratio as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, si'mi_lariy to other appiicable
regulatory ratios, was caiculated based on the disclosed figures, and did not take into consideration the
adjustments that will result from the uncertainties discussed under Note 1.3 once these uncertainties
become reascnably quantifiable. Due to the high levels of these uncertainties, management is unable to
estimate in a reasonable manner, the impact of these matters on the Group's capital adequacy and the
recapitalization needs that may arise once the necessary adjustments are determined and recorded.

41. Fair value of financial assets and Habilities

- Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on
the presumption that the trar saction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

» In the principal market for the asset or liability; or
e In the absence of a principal market, in the maost advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient
data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing

the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level

input that is significant to the fair measurement as a whole:
s Level 1- Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

s Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable,

= Level 3 - Valuation tecizugues 1 which the lowest level input that is significant to thw saiv value

measure's. s unonservable,

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis,
the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing
categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a wholie)

at the end of each reporting period.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group determines classes of assets and liabilities on the basis
of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as

explained above.

As a result of the unprecedented levels of uncertainty surrounding the economic crisis that Lebanon, and
particularly the banking sector in Lebanon, is experiencing, as described in Note 1, management is unable
to produce reasonable estimation of the fair value of financial assets and liabilities concentrated in Lebanon
as the measurement of their fair value is either (i) dependent on prices quoted in a market that is severeiy
inactive and illiquid; or (ii) determined using cash flow valuation models using observable market inputs,
comprising of interest rates and yield curves, implied volatilities, and credit spreads that are not reflective

of the economic reality and market conditions.

In the absence of reliable data, the Group did not disclose the fair value of financial assets and liabilities
onginated in Lebanorn as required by IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurements.
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42. Related party iransactions / balances

Related parties represent the Parent Bank, key management personnel and their close family members, and
entities controlled cr jointly controlled by them. In the normal course of business, the Group has dealings
at market rates, or on terms agreed by the management of the Group with related parties.

Belov' are balances and transactions with related parties inciuded in these consolidated financial
statements:

December 31,

2024 2023
LBP*000 LBPG00
Deposits with related banks

Currenr acoiints with the Parent Bazk (no.e 6) ' :

Fransabank S.A L. ' 176,453,293 35,067,935

Current accounts with related banks (note 6) :

Fransabank France S.A. 23,931,121 4,156,182
Interest income from deposits with related bank ' - 4,353
Loans and advances to related parties — Board members and
key management (Note 7)

Loans and advances 646,753 499,073
Interest income from loans and advances to related parties 415,723 4,251
(MNote 26)

Deposits from related banks (Note 16) :

Short term deposits from Parent Bank - Fransabank S.A.L 7,596,251 12,750,600

Accrued interest payable 960,821 141,960
Interest expense on deposits from Parent Bank (Note 27) 796,811 2,215,290
Related parties’ customers® deposits — Board members,
key management and related company (Note 17) -

Demand deposits 70,317,855 70,929,236

Term deposits 1,864,003.840 404,177,958

Collateral against loans and advances 29,893,000 5,035,256

~ Accrued interest payable 2,969,359 1,452
Interest expense on customers’ deposits from related parties 40,369,807 28.587.786
(Note 27)

Board members remunerations (Note 32)
Board of Directors remuneration fees 23,854,935 5,104,120
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43. Approval of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024 were approved by the Board
of Directors in its meeting held on May 16, 2025.
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